

From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

USING ENRICHED QUALITY REGISTER DATA FOR HEALTH CARE EVALUATION: EXAMPLES FROM RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Jonas Eriksson



Stockholm 2014

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by åtta.45 Tryckeri AB © Jonas Eriksson, 2014 ISBN 978-91-7549-654-2 Using Enriched Quality Register Data for Health Care Evaluation: Examples from Rheumatoid Arthritis

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

Ву

Jonas Eriksson

Principal Supervisor: Associate Professor Martin Neovius Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine

Co-supervisor: Professor Johan Askling Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine *Opponent:* Professor Annelies Boonen Maastricht University Department of Internal Medicine

Examination Board: Professor Pär Sparén Karolinska Institutet Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics

Professor Bertil Lindahl Uppsala University Department of Medical Sciences and Uppsala Clinical Research Center

Professor Magnus Johannesson Stockholm School of Economics Department of Economics

ABSTRACT

Swedish registers have for decades successfully been used for medical research, enabling long-term follow-up of large patient cohorts using observational designs. With a tax funded health care system and the use of a personal identity number as a unique identifier, together with national health registers as well as national demographic registers, we have to a relatively low cost the possibility to answer an abundance of research questions in a real-world setting.

This thesis describes how the Swedish Rheumatology Quality register (SRQ) can be enriched with national register data for estimating disease occurrence, assessment of health care resource use and work loss, and for potentiating randomized controlled trials (RCTs) conducted within the register framework. More specifically, by using the SRQ that collects disease specific data on patients with rheumatic diseases in routine clinical care together with objectively assessed data from national registers we could in a large sample of patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) estimate the incidence and burden of RA. Furthermore, with a randomized pragmatic clinical trial included in the register framework, we could provide information on health economic outcomes regarding a common clinical question in early RA, whether to continue treatment by adding an expensive biologic alternative or to continue with a conventional combination treatment strategy after insufficient response to methotrexate.

We found an overall incidence of RA in Sweden on a par with previous local but detailed studies (41 per 100,000; **paper I**), with a substantial variation across age and sex. We observed that the incidence of RA peaked in the 7th decade in life in both sexes, and that the incidence in women was more than twice the incidence observed in men. Furthermore, we observed lower incidence estimates in individuals with higher education level and in densely population areas. With respect to burden of disease, we used general population comparators individually matched to register-identified subjects with RA and estimated the annual societal cost in prevalent as well as monthly societal cost in newly diagnosed patients to 2-3 times higher than in the general population (**paper II**).

The randomized Swefot trial compared the addition of the biologic drug infliximab versus conventional combination therapy in patients with early RA who had failed initial methotrexate monotherapy. With the Swefot trial included in the SRQ, we could for the first time in a randomized register trial setting analyze work loss and cost-effectiveness for a strategy adding a biologic alternative as compared to conventional combination therapy in methotrexate-refractory early RA.

We observed a substantial decrease in mean monthly work loss days in both treatment alternatives, with a reduction of 3 times to double that in the general population from randomization to 21 months of follow-up, but no difference between the strategies could be detected (**paper III**). This remaining gap to the general population indicates a need for earlier diagnosis as well as for more effective treatment strategies of RA. In the cost-effectiveness analysis we observed similar effects between the strategies over 21 months, while the infliximab strategy incurred higher costs (**paper IV**), suggesting that an attempt with conventional combination therapy appears reasonable before starting infliximab treatment in methotrexate-refractory early RA, both from a clinical and economic perspective.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- Eriksson JK, Neovius M, Ernestam S, Lindblad S, Simard JF, Askling J. Incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Sweden: a nationwide population-based assessment of incidence, its determinants, and treatment penetration. *Arthritis Care & Research.* 2013; 65: 870-878.
- II. Eriksson JK, Johansson K, Askling J, Neovius M.
 Costs for hospital care, drugs and lost work days in incident and prevalent rheumatoid arthritis: how large, and how are they distributed?
 Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2013; In press.
- III. Eriksson JK, Neovius M, Bratt J, Petersson IF, van Vollenhoven RF, Geborek P, Ernestam S. Biological vs conventional combination treatment and work loss in early rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized trial. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2013; 173: 1407-1414.
- IV. Eriksson JK, Karlsson JA, Bratt J, Petersson IF, van Vollenhoven RF, Ernestam S, Geborek P, Neovius M. Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination treatment in methotrexate-refractory early rheumatoid arthritis: 2-year results of the register-enriched randomised controlled SWEFOT trial. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases.* 2014; In press.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction1						
	1.1	Regist	er-based research in Sweden	2			
	1.2	The Sv	vedish personal identity number	2			
	1.3	Occurr	rence of disease	3			
	1.4	Cohor	t studies	3			
		1.4.1	Analysis	4			
		1.4.2	Matching	4			
	1.5	Rando	mized controlled trials	4			
	1.6	Registe	er-enriched randomized controlled trials	5			
	1.7	Cost a	nd cost-effectiveness studies	6			
		1.7.1	Costs	6			
		1.7.2	Perspectives	7			
		1.7.3	Health-related quality of life	7			
		1.7.4	Discounting	8			
		1.7.5	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)	8			
	1.8	Rheun	natoid arthritis (RA)	9			
		1.8.1	Epidemiology	9			
		1.8.2	Definitions and outcome measurements	10			
		1.8.3	Management and treatment	10			
		1.8.4	Consequences and costs	11			
	1.9	Ethical	l considerations	12			
2	Obje	ctives		13			
3	Mate	erial and	methods	15			
	3.1	Setting	38	15			
	3.2	Data e	nrichment of the SRQ	15			
	3.3	Data s	ources	16			
		3.3.1	The Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register (SRQ)	17			
		3.3.2	The randomized Swefot trial	17			
		3.3.3	National health registers	19			
		3.3.4	Demographic registers	20			
		3.3.5	Registers at the Social Insurance Agency	20			
	3.4	Study	population and outcomes	22			
		3.4.1	Paper I – Incidence of RA	22			
		3.4.2	Paper II – Costs for hospital care, drugs and lost work days in RA	23			
		3.4.3	Paper III – Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and				
			work loss in early RA	24			
		3.4.4	Paper IV – Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional				
			combination treatment in early RA	24			
	3.5	Statist	ical analysis	26			
		3.5.1	Poisson distribution	26			
		3.5.2	Kaplan-Meier estimator	26			
		3.5.3	Cox regression	26			

		3.5.4	Analysis of covariance	26			
		3.5.5	A note on statistical power in the Swefot trial	27			
		3.5.6	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)	28			
		3.5.7	Seemingly unrelated regression	28			
		3.5.8	Bootstrapping	29			
4	Resu	lts		31			
	4.1	Paper	Ι	31			
	4.2	Paper	ΙΙ	32			
	4.3	Paper	III	34			
	4.4	Paper	IV	36			
5	Discu	Discussion					
	5.1	Main f	indings	39			
		5.1.1	Incidence of RA	39			
		5.1.2	Costs for hospital care, drugs, and lost work days in RA	39			
		5.1.3	Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and work loss in				
			early RA	40			
		5.1.4	Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination				
			treatment in early RA	40			
	5.2	Previo	us research	41			
		5.2.1	Incidence of RA	41			
		5.2.2	Costs for hospital care, drugs, and lost work days in RA	41			
		5.2.3	Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and work loss in				
			early RA	42			
		5.2.4	Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination				
			treatment in early RA	43			
	5.3	Implica	ations	43			
	5.4	Streng	ths	44			
	5.5	Limitat	tions	45			
	5.6	Conclu	isions	47			
	5.7	Future	research	48			
6	Ackn	owledge	ements	49			
7	Refe	rences		51			
8	Samr	nanfattr	ning på svenska	59			
	8.1	Bakgru	ınd	59			
		8.1.1	Registerforskning i Sverige	59			
		8.1.2	Reumatoid artrit (RA)	59			
		8.1.3	Swefot – en randomiserad kontrollerad studie	60			
	8.2	Syfte		60			
	8.3	Metod	l	60			
	8.4	Resulta	at	61			
		8.4.1	Studie I – Incidens av RA	61			
		8.4.2	Studie II – Kostnader för sjukvård, läkemedel och arbetsoförmåga bland				
			patienter med RA	61			

8.4.3	Studie III – Infliximab jämfört med konventionell	
	kombinationsbehandling och arbetsoförmåga bland patienter med	
	nydebuterad RA	61
8.4.4	Studie IV – Kostnadseffektivitet av infliximab jämfört med konventionell	
	kombinationsbehandling bland patienter med nydebuterad RA	62
Slutsat	S	62
	8.4.3 8.4.4 Slutsats	 8.4.3 Studie III – Infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling och arbetsoförmåga bland patienter med nydebuterad RA 8.4.4 Studie IV – Kostnadseffektivitet av infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling bland patienter med nydebuterad RA Slutsats

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACR	American College of Rheumatology
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARTIS	Anti-Rheumatic Therapies in Sweden
AS	Ankylosing spondylitis
ATC	Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical classification system
CI	Confidence interval
DAS	Disease activity score
DMARD	Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug
ESR	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
EQ-5D	Euroqol 5-dimensions
EULAR	European League Against Rheumatism
HR	Hazard ratio
ICD	International Classification of Disease
ICER	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
ІТТ	Intention-to-treat
AIL	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
mITT	modified intention-to-treat
NPR	National Patient Register
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
PDR	Prescribed Drug Register
PsA	Psoriatic arthritis
QALY	Quality-adjusted life-year
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SCB	Statistics Sweden
SRQ	Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register
Swefot	Swedish farmacotherapy
TNFi	Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor
тто	Time trade-off
WHO	World Health Organization

1 INTRODUCTION

For decades, Swedish registers have successfully been used for medical research, enabling long-term follow-up of large patient cohorts using observational designs. For example, the early established Swedish Cancer register has frequently been used to study cancer-related research questions,¹ and has, through the personal identity number, been enriched with data on hospital admissions for studying the risk of cancer among patients with a specific medical condition. Other early examples of using register-based designs in health-related research are found from the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study² and the prospective-controlled Swedish Obese Subjects study³ linked to national register data for studies on mortality, cancer, and hospitalizations.^{4,5}

More recently, research databases have been established including several data sources using clinical quality registers enriched through register linkage with outcomes such as mortality, cancer, and work loss from national registers.⁶⁻⁸ Hereby a high granularity regarding clinical information can be obtained from the quality registers, while still exploiting the strengths associated with national registers. Moreover, while quality registers can provide much valuable data on their own, the true potential for both research and health care improvement may be in the combination through register-linkage and extensions where randomization occurs within the quality register framework.^{9,10} However, enriched quality register data create both new possibilities and potential problems for evaluation of effectiveness, safety, and health economic outcomes.

The four studies included in this thesis provide examples of how register-linkage can be used for estimating disease incidence, testing the robustness of register-based identification of disease, assessment of health care resource use and work loss, and for potentiating randomized controlled trials (RCTs) conducted within clinical quality registers.

Apart from being examples of how to use and enrich quality registers, the studies are also of scientific interest in their own regard, providing information regarding disease incidence and the burden of disease on an unprecedented scale within the field of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (**papers I** and **II**). The register-enriched RCT enables analysis on whether differences in radiological outcomes translate into actual changes in work loss (**paper III**), something that is commonly claimed and used as motivation for the high cost of biologic drugs in RA.¹¹⁻¹⁶ Finally, the register-enriched RCT can also be used for cost-effectiveness analysis of biologic versus conventional combination treatment (**paper IV**), adding important data to the ongoing discussion whether expensive biologic alternatives are good value for money as second line treatment compared to considerably cheaper non-biologic alternatives.¹⁷⁻²⁰

The introduction section is aimed to introduce the concepts needed for interpretation of the studies included in this thesis, and starts with a brief overview of the register linkage procedure and the personal identity number, followed by an introduction to epidemiological concepts of study designs and analyses, concepts of health economic analysis, description of RA and how the register-based methodology in this thesis add to the existing knowledge, and ends with ethical considerations.

1.1 REGISTER-BASED RESEARCH IN SWEDEN

The setting in Sweden, with a tax funded health care system and drugs that are provided free of charge above a threshold (2200 SEK in year 2014; <u>www.tlv.se</u>), and most importantly from a data linkage perspective, a personal identity number for all Swedish residents, makes Sweden an attractive environment for register-based research. With the virtually complete inpatient register of hospital discharges, together with the non-primary outpatient part of the National Patient Register, disease conditions and events of many study subjects are accessible, while dispensed prescription drugs for any indication are available from the Prescribed Drug Register. These national health registers, held at the National Board of Health and Welfare, are important data sources in health-related research in Sweden.

In addition to the national health registers, there are several quality of care registers in Sweden that collect data on a specific disease or intervention. These registers are usually established within the medical profession, and historically by enthusiasts, since it usually requires a huge effort in the start-up phase. The purpose of these registers is to monitor and improve health care, in some cases to provide the treating physician with individual decision support, and to conduct research. In 2014, 81 registers were qualified, by the National Board of Quality of Care Registers in Sweden, to be of sufficient quality to receive a certificate of quality register and to receive funding from the government for improvement and to further increase the quality of the register (http://www.kvalitetsregister.se/).

The Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register (SRQ), including the biologics register ARTIS (Anti-Rheumatic Therapies in Sweden), is a quality of care register that collects disease specific data on patients with rheumatic diseases in daily clinical practice.⁶ For the data used in this thesis, we have, through the personal identity number, linked the SRQ to national health registers as well as to other quality of care registers, and to the registers at the Social Insurance Agency. By the data enrichment procedure of the SRQ we have at a low cost established a powerful enriched clinical care register database where we have the possibility to answer an abundance of research questions, over a long time period with virtually complete follow-up, and in a real-world setting.

1.2 THE SWEDISH PERSONAL IDENTITY NUMBER

All persons who are registered in Sweden are assigned a 10 digit personal identity number administrated by the Swedish Tax Agency.²¹ The structure of the personal identity number includes data on birth and sex, where the first six numbers describes date of birth (YYMMDD), and is followed by a three-digit birth number, where the third digit specifies the sex of the individual (odd number indicating male and even number indicating female). The tenth and final digit is a control number indicating if the date of birth and the three digit number are correct. From this structure, the total number of possible unique personal identity numbers are 500 male and 499 female combinations for the same date.²²

The system of personal identity number was established in 1947, with the control number added in 1967.²² This system is fundamental in the Swedish society where many of the rights and obligations as a Swedish resident hinge upon identification in registers and by authorities, and is also of great importance in medical research. Although the personal identity number is unique, there are situations where numbers have been reused or have been corrected, resulting in that the same personal identity

number has been assigned to more than one person, or that more than one number have been assigned to the same person, respectively. Reuse of personal identity numbers is rare, but may be necessary due to the limited number of unique combinations for the same date. In the 1950s and 1960s, Sweden had many immigrants that received 1st of January or 1st of July as date of birth, and this explains why reuse of numbers during this period is more common. The most common reasons for changing the personal identity number is incorrect date of birth or incorrect sex among immigrants or newborns. Other more uncommon situations for changing the personal identity number is adults changing sex, and in individuals requiring protected identity.

An estimated 13,500,000 personal identity numbers have been provided from 1969 until January 2008, whereof 15,887 numbers were reused, and 75,638 individuals had received a new personal identity number, including 26,265 out of 7,938,077 individuals born in Sweden (0.33%).²² Although the number of reused and changed personal identity numbers are few compared to the total number assigned, the researcher has to be aware of the potential problem and take this into consideration when working with register data linkages.

1.3 OCCURRENCE OF DISEASE

In epidemiology, there are two fundamental measures to describe the occurrence of disease, incidence (proportion or rate) and prevalence (proportion).²³ The incidence proportion, or sometimes just incidence, is a measure of risk for developing a condition within a period of time, while incidence rate includes the time at risk for the individual study subjects. The incidence proportion is defined as the number of new cases during a time period, divided by the total number of study participants initially at risk. In contrast, the denominator in the incidence rate measure is the sum of person-years, or any other time unit, which the total number of study participants initially at risk contribute to the cohort study. If all study subjects can be followed throughout the study period, the incidence proportion is equal to the incidence rate. Unlike the prevalence measure, which describes the spread of a disease as a proportion of cases in the population at a given point in time (or during a given period in time), the incidence describes the occurrence of new cases.²⁴

1.4 COHORT STUDIES

A cohort study is a type of observational study design where study subjects are divided into groups based on exposure and are followed over time, with an aim of measuring the occurrence of one or several outcomes during the follow-up period, and to compare these occurrence rates between groups.²³ Compared to RCTs, cohort studies typically have long follow-up time and high generalizability by including a representative sample of the source population. However, they may suffer from methodological issues, which make it difficult to estimate causal effects for a specific intervention or other exposure. A major methodological problem is that patients may be selected by certain known or unknown characteristics to a specific treatment, resulting in selection bias. Other problems may be challenges to define exposure status, and the high cost associated with collecting all data needed to have enough statistical power. However, the latter is not much of an issue when using national population-based registers available for example in Sweden.

1.4.1 Analysis

Cohort studies often involve research questions with time to a specific event, such as time to death, time to a specific disease, or time to treatment discontinuation, and study subjects may drop out of the study before the end of follow-up. With different time at risk for study subjects, occurrence of disease can be measured by the incidence rate. To include time at risk in the analysis, the association between exposure status and the outcome or event is usually evaluated using survival analysis, where the Cox proportional hazard regression often is used, enabling adjustment for potential confounders and investigate effect modification.²⁵

1.4.2 Matching

Matching of unexposed comparator subjects to exposed study subjects on certain characteristics that may affect both the exposure and the outcome is one way to deal with confounding in cohort studies, since the potential association between exposure status and matching factors at baseline are prevented.²⁶ One advantage for matching on a set of characteristics compared to adjusting for the same characteristics in a cohort study design without matching, is that potential interactions among the matching factors are also included in the matched design. This allows for estimation of an overall effect, whereas controlling for several interactions may complicate the interpretation of results. In contrast, results from a matched design of unexposed to exposed study subjects may be easily presented, since the cohorts are followed side by side over time. However, although potential confounding for matching factors at start of follow-up are reduced in a matched cohort design, these characteristics may still need to be controlled for in the analysis if the exposure and the matching factors affect the time at risk, or if there are additional confounders, even when adjusting for the additional confounders.²⁷

1.5 RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIALS

The randomized controlled trial is the gold standard design for measuring causal effects, meaning that since everything else is equal, there is a causal effect of the intervention if the outcome differs between groups to which subjects have been allocated at random. Subjects are randomly allocated to receive an intervention (or placebo), and are thereafter followed over time. With the randomization procedure, both known and unknown confounders are ideally spread out and balanced in the treatment groups, with reduced potential for biased estimates from patient characteristics that may have an effect on the outcome. Limitations of RCTs, with its experimental nature of the design, are that trials commonly include a selected group of participants due to strict inclusion and exclusion criteria, have a limited follow-up time, and are expensive to conduct. Thus, RCTs typically have high internal validity (unbiased and valid estimates of the treatment effect on the outcome), while the external validity (the generalizability) of the estimated effect might be limited.

There are different approaches to analyze RCT data, where the intention-to-treat (ITT) principle is the dominant strategy in the interpretation of RCTs.²⁸ Under the ITT, all patients allocated to a treatment are followed in that treatment group regardless of protocol breach. For example, in the analysis subjects remain in the treatment group to which they were allocated regardless whether the patient never received the allocated treatment, mistakenly received the alternative intervention, or did not adhere to the intended treatment. Using the ITT approach, characteristics other than the pure

biological effect that may influence the efficacy of the intervention are included in the analysis. Such characteristics may be the ability to administer the drug, drug adherence of the patients, as well as other measured or unmeasured characteristics among the patients.

Other approaches to analyze RCT data are per-protocol analysis, where study subjects that completed the trial according to protocol are included, and modified ITT,²⁹ where study subjects with some deviations from the study protocol are excluded.

In **Figure 1** the rationale behind the ITT approach is presented in a directed acyclic graph.³⁰ If data from an RCT is analyzed by the ITT method, the effect of the allocated treatment R on the outcome Y is measured, and the path from $A \rightarrow Y$ through the unmeasured confounding U is blocked according to graph theory in directed acyclic graph (A is a collider). If instead using per-protocol analysis, the treatment effect of drug A on the outcome Y is measured, which may be biased by the potential unmeasured confounding U since the path $A \leftarrow U \rightarrow Y$ is unblocked.

If no confounding, selection bias or measurement bias for the randomly assigned treatment R exists, the association between R and the outcome Y can be interpreted as the causal effect of R on Y. However, using the ITT approach and, as in most situations in randomized trials, with patients not adherent to the allocated treatment, potential misclassification bias is introduced. While, as noted, in per-protocol analysis potential unmeasured confounding may instead result in a biased estimate of the treatment effect.



Figure 1 Directed acyclic graph of a randomized trial

R: Randomly allocated treatment; A: Adherence to the assigned treatment; U: Unmeasured confounding; Y: The outcome of interest

1.6 REGISTER-ENRICHED RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIALS

The combination of randomization and observational register data, with an RCT conducted within the register-enriched framework, has the potential of using the generalizability of "real world data" that has been recorded in daily clinical practice along with properties of randomization such as a reduced risk of selection bias.

In more detail, by combining real-world data with a randomization procedure in the quality of care register, the long follow-up, many different outcomes, and clinically relevant comparisons between treatments from the register data are combined with the possibilities of estimating causal effects from the RCT. The features of including clinically relevant interventions, inclusion of a diverse population of participants recruited in a real-world clinical setting, and data collection on several different outcomes, refer to the term pragmatic clinical trial or practical trials.³¹ Finally, since the clinical data are entered

into the quality of care register in routine practice, this design allows for long-term follow-up at a low cost.

1.7 COST AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS STUDIES

Economic assessments of the treatment of disease evaluate the economic value of therapeutic interventions with an overall aim to maximize health. A common study design in economic assessments captures self-reported data on costs from questionnaires. While this design enables data collection on a detailed level, questionnaires are commonly associated with both non-response and recall bias. By instead using a register-enriched database with objectively assessed data on health care and work loss, the weaknesses inherent in using questionnaires may be avoided, but with the loss of collecting all potential cost components.

While studies of burden of disease, or cost of illness, assess the health care use and/or work loss, costeffectiveness studies combine the costs incurred by the new intervention and the health related quality of life gained from it, compared to another intervention. The comparison intervention may for example be standard of care or no intervention at all. The results are presented as incremental costs and effects between the treatment groups, and usually in an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER), which is defined as the difference in costs divided by the difference in effects between treatment alternatives.

1.7.1 Costs

Costs are generally divided into three categories, health care costs, productivity losses, and intangible cost.

Health care costs, sometimes referred to as direct costs, are all costs associated with the health care used for having the intervention in question. For valuing productivity losses, sometimes referred to as indirect costs, two methods are often used, the human capital approach and the friction cost method, where the former is heavily dominating cost of illness studies in RA. Finally, intangible costs refer to the suffering incurred by the disease and the interventions needed, and may be more difficult to quantify than direct and indirect costs.

1.7.1.1 Human capital approach

The human capital approach values productivity losses by using the value of an individual's future earnings. The market value of lost productivity associated with illness is therefore an individual's reduced production as compared with if the same individual would continue to be in full health. The reduced production is estimated using gross earnings with taxes included, and hence, valued to the actual amount the employer pays for the production delivered.³²

There are a number of limitations using the human capital approach. Criticisms have been raised against the assumption that, even if the unemployment rate would be high, a worker cannot be replaced. Further, the value of future production may not reflect the gross earnings (e.g. housewives), and leisure time is not valued as it would be in general welfare economics.³²

1.7.1.2 Friction cost method

The friction cost method uses the same underlying assumption as the human capital method, that future production is valued using the individual's future earnings. The difference compared to the human capital approach is the assumption that the worker can be replaced after a period of time, referred to as the friction time, until the absent worker returns or is replaced.³³

In the short-term, the human capital and the friction cost method result in similar estimates of productivity losses. However, in the long-term, lower cost estimates would be obtained with the friction cost method.

One concern with the friction cost method is that illness and premature death would result in reduced unemployment rates in the overall society. Furthermore, it has been argued that, for consistency, the friction cost method should also be used to estimate direct costs, resulting in unrealistic health care cost estimates.³⁴ After the friction period, the price of labor is set to close to zero, which implies a substantially reduced health care cost since the labor cost is a major part of the value added in a health care program.³⁴ Finally, estimating the length of a friction period may be challenging, as it is likely to differ according to characteristics such as employment position, educational level, and the situation on the labor market.³⁵

1.7.2 Perspectives

Costs and benefits that are relevant to include in the analysis depend on which perspective being used. Common perspectives used in cost-effectiveness analysis are the individual, health care, and societal perspectives. For example, from the health care perspective, costs of drugs and resource use in the therapy delivered would be relevant, while productivity losses are not borne by the hospital and should not be included. However, to identify the most efficient use of health care, and since productivity losses are part of the social resources and paid for by taxes, it has strongly been recommended to include productivity losses and to use the societal perspective in cost-effectiveness analysis.^{36,37}

1.7.3 Health-related quality of life

Cost-utility analysis is one type of cost-effectiveness analysis where the effect is measured as quality adjusted life-years (QALY) gained. Utility is a valuation of health-related quality of life in states where 0 indicates dead and 1 indicates full health. A QALY is the product of the utility value of a specific health state and the time spent in the health state. One common instrument to measure utility in cost-utility analysis of RA is the EuroQol 5-Dimensions (EQ-5D) instrument.^{20,38,39} The EQ-5D comprises five questions regarding mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression, with three alternative responses for each (an updated version with five alternatives is under development; http://www.euroqol.org/).

The 243 different health states in the three-level EQ-5D questionnaire (3⁵=243 possible combinations) may be converted to a single country specific index value.⁴⁰ Cost-utility analyses on Swedish data often use index values from the UK, and sometimes from the US. However, experience-based value sets for EQ-5D health states in Sweden have recently been published, but may be investigated in more detail before implementation.⁴¹

As with the Swedish preference set, both the UK and the US preference sets have used the time tradeoff (TTO) method in deriving index values to each health state. The TTO method compares the time in a specific health state to the time with full health. Time in the current health state is varied until the respondent is indifferent between the alternatives. The utility score for the current health state is then the time with full health divided by the time in the current health state. For example, a patient indicates that ten years of living would be required in his or her current health state to be equivalent of three years of living with full health. The utility in this health state would then be 0.3 (3/10).

In longitudinal data where several measurements over time are available, accumulated QALYs during follow-up are often used. Accumulated QALYs are calculated as the area under the utility curve, with utility on the y-axis and time on the x-axis.

Major advantages of the QALY approach, in contrast to many other effect measures, are that the QALY measure captures changes both in morbidity and mortality, and may be compared among all patients and between different diseases, interventions and health care programs.

One limitation with the QALY measure is that all QALYs are considered to have the same value. For example, few patients with a large increase in health-related quality of life may result in similar estimates as when many patients have a small increase. Some argue that a high QALY change among few patients that may be life-saving, should be given more weight as compared to a small increase among many patients,³² as may often be the case in chronic inflammatory diseases such as RA. Furthermore, QALYs do not take into account when in life the change of health-related quality of life takes place.

1.7.4 Discounting

Discounting in health economic assessment is a method used to adjust for future costs and benefits to the present value. The concept of discounting is that receiving something with a value today has a greater value than to receive the same thing in the future.

National pricing and reimbursement agencies usually recommend discounting of cost and health effects at an annual rate of 3% or 5% in the main analysis, and up to 10% in sensitivity analysis, and also without discounting of health effects.⁴² While there is an agreement among health economists that future costs should be discounted, there is some disagreement regarding which discount rate to use for future benefits, or whether to discount future benefits at all. Some have argued that a year of life is the same whenever it occurs in time, and health effects should for that reason not be discounted. However, much of the literature indicates that individuals place greater weight on benefits that occur soon in time, as compared to delayed benefits, suggesting that future benefits should be discounted in the analysis.⁴³ The Swedish national reimbursement agency, the Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Board (www.tlv.se), recommends discounting of both costs and effects to an annual rate of 3%, and to conduct sensitivity analysis with discount rates of 0% and 5%.³⁶

1.7.5 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)

The ICER combines the costs and effects for one intervention compared to another intervention (often the standard care) and is used in health economics for supporting decision making regarding health interventions. The ICER can be presented in the cost-effectiveness plane consisting of four quadrants, quadrants I-IV in a clockwise order starting in the upper right quadrant, with the plotted difference in costs (y-axis) against the difference in effects (x-axis) between treatment groups (**Figure 2**).⁴⁴ In quadrant I the new treatment is more effective but also more costly, in quadrant II the new treatment dominates with lower costs and better effect, results in quadrant III indicates that the new treatment is less costly but also less effective, and in quadrant IV the standard treatment dominates as the new treatment is more costly and less effective. The willingness to pay threshold, the monetary value per unit of effect that would be acceptable and considered cost-effective, is also easily presented in the cost-effectiveness plane through a line with where the slope represents the threshold.



Figure 2 The cost-effectiveness plane with an imagined willingness to pay threshold (dotted line). The white area illustrates acceptance of new treatment, where increased costs for the gained effect may be acceptable (upper right quadrant), new treatment dominates (less costly and more effective; lower right quadrant), or may be acceptable (less effective but also less costly; lower left quadrant).

1.8 RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS (RA)

RA is a chronic disease characterized by systemic inflammation, joint destruction, and presence of autoantibodies, and if not controlled, results in disability, reduced quality of life, and higher risk of cardiovascular as well as other comorbidities.⁴⁵

1.8.1 Epidemiology

Around 0.5-1% of the western population are living with RA,⁴⁶ and around 50,000 individuals have RA in Sweden.⁴⁷ The annual rate of new cases is 20-50 per 100,000, but prevalence and incidence estimates differ considerably depending on age and sex, since RA onset is more common in older individuals and 2-3 times more common in women than men.⁴⁸ Other risk factors for RA includes genetic factors, with a 3-fold increase risk when family history of RA is present,⁴⁹ and smoking, the strongest environmental factor with approximately a 2-fold increased risk for RA.^{50,51}

With respect to previous incidence estimates of RA, reports have suggested that the incidence has declined during the second half of the 20th century, while more recent studies report an increase in the last decade. With exception of nationwide incidence studies of RA from Finland,^{52,53} previous reports have based their estimates on up to a few hundred individuals with RA diagnosis verified using standard RA classification criteria. Such a study design may provide good incidence estimates of

defined RA in that specific study area, but may not be generalizable to physician-diagnosed RA on a national level, which would be the "real-life" occurrence of RA. Subgroup analysis in small sample studies may also be limited or impossible, and it is unclear whether the incidence of RA varies with factors other than age and sex, such as demographic factors and geography.

1.8.2 Definitions and outcome measurements

RA is a classification disease where no single clinical test alone can be used to verify a diagnosis. To be classified as having RA, the patient has to fulfill a number of different criteria. An often used classification tool is the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria from 1987,⁵⁴ with good features to verify established RA, but with limitations in identifying patients early in the disease course. An updated version has therefore been developed by the ACR and the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) organizations, the 2010 ACR/EULAR criteria.⁵⁵ It has been estimated that the updated version identifies similar number of incident RA cases at start of follow-up, as the 1987 ACR criteria would have identified after five years of follow-up.⁵⁶

Severity of RA is usually categorized based on disease activity with the 28-joint count disease activity score (DAS28),⁵⁷ ranging from 0 to 10 (higher number indicates more disease activity), and is often used for treat-to-target approaches in clinical practice (**Table 1**).⁵⁸ The DAS28 measure consists of 4 components: number of swollen joints (0-28), number of tender joints (0-28), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and the patient-reported general health assessment on a visual analogue scale (0-100).

Other measures of disease severity are the health assessment questionnaire (HAQ), which is a patientreported questionnaire, ranging from 0 to 3, assessing the physical function and disability in patients with RA.⁵⁹ Measures of radiological progression of joint destruction using radiographs of patients' hands and feet are also used. One such scoring system when comparing the radiographs is the Van der Heijde modification of the Sharp score, ranging from 0 to 448.⁶⁰

Disease activity score	Disease activity category	
DAS28 < 2.6	Remission	
DAS28 < 3.2	Low disease activity	
3.2 ≤ DAS28 ≤ 5.1	Moderate disease activity	
DAS28 > 5.1	High disease activity	

 Table 1 Categories of disease activity based on 28-joint count disease activity score (DAS28)

1.8.3 Management and treatment

Since the late 1990s the treatment of RA has changed dramatically with the introduction of biologic drugs, with superior efficacy in treating disease activity compared to non-biologic alternatives.¹⁷ Biologic drugs for treatment of RA refers to large complex protein molecules that, instead of passing the cell-membrane as smaller molecules, act outside the cell by blocking components of the immune system that have an important role in the inflammation process. A common mechanism for biologics in RA is blocking of a chemical activator of inflammation, the tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and such drugs are usually referred to as TNF inhibitors (TNF). In addition to an increased number of new

therapeutic options, treat-to-target approaches, early identification of RA onset, and careful monitoring of the disease course have improved the management and treatment of RA.⁶¹

The standard recommendation in RA is to initiate non-biological disease-modifying anti-rheumatic (DMARD) therapy as early as possible in the disease course. At this stage, adding low dose glucocorticoids may also be considered.⁶² One common strategy is to initiate treatment with methotrexate monotherapy. However, only around one third of the patients reach low disease activity after 3 months using methotrexate alone.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ In patients who do not respond to the first DMARD strategy, current recommendations are to consider an alternative or a combination DMARD therapy in those patients with absence of poor prognostic factors (such as rheumatoid factor or anti-citrullinated protein antibodies, radiographic progression, or high disease activity), and to consider adding a biologic drug in those who have poor prognostic factors present.⁶²

The randomized Swefot trial aimed to answer this common clinical question in early RA, that is, which strategy, adding a TNFi or further conventional DMARDs, is preferable in patients not achieving low disease activity after 3-4 months of methotrexate monotherapy.^{65,66} The clinical results showed superiority of the TNFi strategy after 1 year,⁶⁵ but with no difference in DAS28 between the strategies after 2 years, although a statistically significant difference in radiographic progression was detected favoring the TNFi treatment strategy.⁶⁶ Similar results have been confirmed from other randomized trials using a similar study design,^{64,67} and also in patients with established RA.⁶⁸

However, no health economic analysis regarding which strategy to choose has been reported in this patient group, neither regarding work loss outcomes nor in a complete cost-effectiveness analysis.

1.8.4 Consequences and costs

With the chronic inflammatory and destructive nature of RA, high health care use, work loss, and reduced quality of life have been reported in these patients.⁶⁹⁻⁷² Reduced employment alternatives and increased productivity losses imply that evaluations of the burden of disease, not only from a health care perspective, but from a societal perspective, are crucial in understanding the value of interventions in RA.

Two recent reviews have compiled data from several burden of disease studies in RA, in an attempt to compare existing studies despite the different methodological approaches and differences in disease severity and comorbidity in study subjects. The most recent review reported a weighted mean annual cost per patient with established RA to €4170 in health care costs and €8452 in productivity losses.⁷⁰ The other systematic review found that the cost per patient was €21,069 in the US, €13,463 in Europe, and €12,893 in Sweden, and that productivity losses constituted less than 50% of the total costs.⁷³ The higher cost in the US compared to Europe was due to higher use of biologics. Already in the beginning of the biological era, biologic drugs appeared to considerably increase the treatment costs of RA, with health care costs mainly driven by drug use instead of hospitalization costs as before the introduction of biologics.⁷⁴

Cost data often display a skewed distribution where few patients contribute a large proportion of the total cost. As a result, in cost of illness analyses, it is important to also understand the underlying cost distribution. However, previous cost of illness studies in RA have not based their estimates on

nationwide individual level data, and no study has compared these cost estimates to the general population in order to understand the additional costs in RA.

1.9 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethical approval for the data linkage and for all included studies in this thesis was granted by the Regional Ethics Committee, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden. The Swefot study was approved by the regional ethics committees of all 15 participating rheumatology units in the trial, and written informed consent was given by the participants before inclusion.

For registration in the SRQ there is a routine of informed consent, and patients have the choice to withdraw the consent at any time and for any reason, and all observations would be removed from the SRQ.

Informed consent from study subjects not included in the SRQ is impossible, as these data are anonymized and some subjects may already be deceased. In addition, with more than 500,000 included study subjects in the data linkage, it would also be practically impossible to inform all study participants.

Our opinion that the possibilities of this research project using the SRQ enriched by data from national registers outweigh the risk of perceived violation of personal integrity for study subjects, was shared by the ethical review board. As further safeguards, the research group only had access to anonymized data, and results are only presented on an aggregated level so that individual patients cannot be identified.

This project demonstrates effective research methods at a relatively low cost, methods that could be replicated to disease areas other than rheumatology, and on a national level to monitor incidence, prevalence, and burden of disease in a way that has not been previously possible, as some of the used registers were only recently established. In addition, we hope that the results from this project could lead to improvements in health care delivery, and thus, in the future, patients with RA could benefit from the study results.

2 OBJECTIVES

The overall aim of this thesis was to describe different ways of using Swedish register data to inform evaluations of health care interventions and epidemiologic inquiries, exemplified by using the SRQ linked to national registers.

The specific objectives were:

- 1. To combine quality register, national health register, and demographic register data to determine the incidence of RA in Sweden (**paper I**)
- To combine quality register, national health register, demographic register, and Social Insurance Agency register data to assess the disease burden measured by cost of work loss, hospital care, and drug use in prevalent and incident RA (paper II)
- 3. To combine randomized controlled trial, quality register, national health register, demographic register, and Social Insurance Agency register data to
 - evaluate the effect on sick leave and disability pension of TNFi+methotrexate versus conventional combination treatment in early RA patients not responding to methotrexate monotherapy (paper III)
 - b. conduct a cost-effectiveness analysis of TNFi+methotrexate versus conventional combination therapy from the societal perspective (**paper IV**)

3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 SETTINGS

All Swedish residents have a 10-digit unique personal identity number, administered by the Swedish Tax Agency, used to identify residents at authorities and in registers. Using this unique key it is possible to merge registers on an individual level to establish a research database which include data from different sources.

In Sweden the health care system is tax funded and offers universal access to all residents, and prescription drugs are provided free of charge above a threshold (1800 SEK during the study period, 2200 SEK in 2014; <u>www.tlv.se</u>). In the case of RA and other inflammatory diseases, patients are typically diagnosed and treated by rheumatologists at non-primary outpatient and inpatient care facilities, rather than by general practitioners. Care for RA represents a mix of combined outpatient and inpatient facilities, with the vast majority of rheumatologists working at hospitals (>90%) rather than as private practitioners.⁷⁵

3.2 DATA ENRICHMENT OF THE SRQ

In the data enrichment procedure of the SRQ, the first step was identification of all patients with RA in the SRQ, while the National Board of Health and Welfare identified all patients from the National Patient Register listing at least one main or contributory diagnosis of RA according to the ICD (International Classification of Disease) coding system (**Figure 3**). For analysis of biologic drug use, patients with any biologic drug prescription in the Prescribed Drug Register were also identified. In addition, general population comparators were sampled from the demographic registers held at Statistics Sweden. Five comparators per RA patient were sampled on an individual level based on age, sex, residence, and year. Patients with any RA diagnosis together with their general population comparators.

Data on patients in the randomized Swefot trial⁶⁵ were also collected in the SRQ, as any data collected in routine daily clinical care at the rheumatology clinic. The enrolled Swefot patients were thus also included in the register-enriched database as subjects in the study cohort, and were also matched to general population comparators.

The study cohort was thereafter merged to the national health registers held by the National Board of Health and Welfare, registers at the Social Insurance Agency, as well as other quality of care registers. Not all data sources outlined in Figure 3 were included in this thesis. Included data sources are described in the next section.



Figure 3 The data enrichment procedure of the SRQ. Patients with RA were identified from the SRQ and the NPR. In addition, for analyses of biologic drug use, all individuals with prescribed biologics were identified from the PDR. After sampling of general population comparators from the Register of Total Population, the study cohort was defined. The study cohort was thereafter linked to national registers and to other quality of care registers. The SRQ may also be linked to medical files for validation studies and to biobank sample repositories.

SRQ: Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register; NPR: National Patient Register; PDR: Prescribed Drug Register

3.3 DATA SOURCES

All data sources used for the included studies are described in this section, and summarized in **Table 2**.

Register holder and data source	Identification of subjects	Data used (years)
The Swedish Rheumatism Association		
SRQ/ARTIS (including Swefot)	Patients with RA	Clinical data related to RA, HAQ, EQ-5D, treatment information (1999-2012)
National Board of Health and Welfare		
National Patient Register	Patients with main or contributory diagnosis for RA	Health care use (not primary care; inpatient: 1971-2012; outpatient: 2001-2012)
Prescribed Drug Register	-	Drug prescriptions (not in-hospital drug use; July 2005 - 2012)
Cause of Death Register	-	Deaths (1956-2012)
Statistics Sweden		
Register of the Total Population	Sampling of comparators on age, sex, place of residence, and year	Birth, death, civil status, country of birth, migration (1968-2012)
LISA	-	Level of education (1990-2012)
Social Insurance Agency		
Social insurance compensations	-	Compensated days for sick leave and disability pension (1994-2012)

Table Z Data used from the different data sources included in the register-enficied databas	Table 2	2 Data	used fr	om the	different	data s	sources	included	in the	register	-enriched	database
---	---------	--------	---------	--------	-----------	--------	---------	----------	--------	----------	-----------	----------

3.3.1 The Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register (SRQ)

The SRQ was started in 1995 by the Swedish Rheumatology Society. It followed on regional register initiatives,^{76,77} and developed over time into a harmonized national register. The primary purpose of SRQ was to improve the health care and treatment for patients with RA, but with time patients with other rheumatic diseases, e.g. ankylosing spondylitis (AS) and psoriatic arthritis (PsA), have also been included. In the late 1990's, when the first biologic drug was approved for the treatment of RA in Sweden, the Swedish Biologics Register ARTIS started in collaboration with the Swedish Medical Products Agency with the primary aim to evaluate the safety of these drugs.

The SRQ together with complementary regional initiatives have since provided clinicians and patients in Sweden as well as internationally with a large amount of clinically useful information. Major strategic advantages of these registers are that they are fully integrated in health care, and used to continuously improve care, i.e. they are designed to be useful in daily clinical practice. This design also enables patients to have access to their particular information in the register and to provide their own patient-derived information, for example from own computers at home or from touch pads in the waiting rooms. These features distinguish the Swedish registers from many other registers internationally, which are often designed to answer one specific research question, rather than being a multipurpose and continuously growing source of information.⁶ Among other variables, SRQ includes date and type of diagnosis, the ACR criteria⁵⁴ at the time of diagnosis, and data on disease activity, disability and treatment. Today SRQ includes data from more than 60 clinics, and covers a high proportion (87-95%) of the patients with RA treated with biologics.^{78,79} The efforts made at the clinics in Sweden for entering data into SRQ have resulted in an increasing coverage also of other patient groups than in biologic drug users. Depending on the register-based definition, the proportion of patients with early RA was 78% in 2012, while an estimated 75% of all individuals with active and prevalent RA in Sweden 2012 were included in the SRQ.⁸⁰

3.3.2 The randomized Swefot trial

The aim of the Swefot (SWEdish FarmacOTherapy) trial was to compare the intensive treatment alternatives of adding conventional DMARDs or a TNFi (infliximab) in the common clinical situation of patients with early RA that have failed their initial treatment with methotrexate monotherapy (**Figure 4**).⁶⁵ The Swefot study was investigator initiated and was funded by the Swedish Rheumatism Association and Schering-Plough/Merck Sharp and Dohme.

Adult patients (aged \geq 18 years) with a diagnosis of early RA (symptom duration <1 year) were recruited from 15 rheumatology units in Sweden from 2002 through 2005. Key inclusion criteria were fulfilment of the 1987 revised ACR criteria,⁵⁴ a disease-activity score based on DAS28 >3.2,⁵⁷ no previous DMARD treatment, and no or stably dosed oral glucocorticoid therapy for at least 4 weeks, using at most 10 mg daily prednisolone (or equivalent). Due to the different route of administration of the two treatment alternatives, where infliximab is given as an infusion and conventional combination therapy is given orally, the use of blinded assessors in the trial was considered but deemed unfeasible owing to the limited personnel at smaller participating units. For this reason, the Swefot study was an openlabel trial, where both doctors and patients were aware of the treatment allocation (addition of two oral drugs versus one infusion).

3.3.2.1 Procedure

An overview of the trial procedure is presented in Figure 4. At inclusion patients started methotrexate monotherapy to be taken every week at an initial dose of 10 mg. The dose was increased every 2 weeks by 5 mg to 20 mg weekly. After a *run-in period* of 3-4 months on methotrexate, the DAS28 was assessed. Patients with low disease activity (DAS28 <3.2) left the trial, while those with moderate to high disease activity (DAS28 \geq 3.2) were randomized to receive additional treatment with infliximab (3 mg/kg body weight, rounded up to the nearest 100 mg increment, given intravenously at weeks 0, 2, and 6 and every 8 weeks thereafter) or conventional combination therapy with sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine (400 mg/day given orally). Patients were scheduled for a visit at the rheumatology clinic every 3 months the first year, and thereafter at 18 and 24 months after inclusion to the trial. Included subjects could discontinue the assigned treatment at any time for lack of effectiveness, adverse effects, or by their own choice.

3.3.2.2 Treatment adjustments

In case of adverse events and within the protocol, sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine could be dose-reduced or withdrawn (while continuing the other), or alternatively, replaced by ciclosporin A (2.5 mg/kg/day; increase up to 5 mg/kg/day allowed). Infliximab could be discontinued and replaced by etanercept (50 mg subcutaneously/week).

3.3.2.3 Study outcome

The primary outcome of the Swefot trial was achievement of a good response in disease activity according to the EULAR criteria⁸¹ after 1 year of follow-up, which has been reported previously.⁶⁵ In the study protocol, secondary analysis of health economic outcomes were prespecified. In **paper III**, we compared the compensated days of sick leave and disability pension between the treatment arms over 21 months, while in **paper IV** the difference between the arms in both costs and health-related quality of life were analyzed by calculating the ICER.



Figure 4 Procedure of the Swefot trial

RA: Rheumatoid arthritis; DAS28: disease activity score based on 28 joint count; EULAR: European League Against Rheumatism

3.3.3 National health registers

The national health registers are kept by the National Board of Health and Welfare, and the national health register sources used in this thesis are described here.

3.3.3.1 The National Patient Register

The National Patient Register contains inpatient discharges and non-primary outpatient care. The inpatient register, also known as the Hospital Discharge Register, started in 1964 and became nationwide in 1987 when introducing the ninth revision of the International Classification of Disease (ICD) coding system in Sweden. The ICD10 coding system has been used since 1997 (with the exception of the county of Skåne where ICD9 was used throughout 1997). Data on every discharge are collected, including main and contributory diagnoses from inpatient care. The coverage in terms of registered discharges are virtually complete, with close to 100% of all inpatient care reported to the register.⁸²

The outpatient component started in 2001 and diagnoses are coded according to the ICD10 coding system. The coverage is nationwide, but varies with year and specialty. The proportion of outpatient visits reported are constantly increasing, and in 2013 87% of all non-primary outpatient care visits in somatic care were reported in the register. Most of the non-reported visits were at private practitioners.⁸³

In both the inpatient and the outpatient component, visits are categorized by diagnoses according to classification of diagnostic related groups (DRG). Medically similar hospitalizations or non-primary outpatient care visits, also with similar resource use, are grouped together based on the main diagnosis for the hospital discharge or outpatient visit. This system was initially developed at Yale University in the US in the 1960s for quality control in health care, but in Sweden a version adapted for Nordic conditions is currently in use (NordDRG). The NordDRG version includes around 580 groups in inpatient care and 400 groups in the non-primary outpatient care, and is used for describing the case-mix at the hospital, planning, monitoring performance, and for reimbursement of the health care delivered. When using DRG for reimbursement purposes, the price per DRG is a fixed price for a specific year, and is a weighted average for all the health care delivered in that group and year.⁸³

The accuracy of the RA diagnosis in the National Patient Register has been validated in a total of 200 subjects, including 100 prevalent and 100 incident register-identified patients with RA,⁸⁴ as defined in **paper I** and **paper II**. In this validation study, 90 patients (90%) in both the prevalent and incident group fulfilled either the 1987 ACR or the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria.^{54,55} Of these 90 patients in the incident group, 90% had a register identification date <2 years from date of symptom onset, indicating a high validity also in incident patients.⁸⁴

3.3.3.2 The Prescribed Drug Register

The Prescribed Drug Register started in July 2005 and includes data on all dispensed prescription drugs in ambulatory care in Sweden, while in-hospital drug use is not recorded on a patient level. Among other variables, the register includes the Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code and name of the prescribed drug, as well as dosage, route of administration, and price.

3.3.3.3 The Cause of Death Register

The Cause of Death Register started to collect data on deaths and causes of deaths in Sweden in 1961. Unlike the National Patient Register where the Swedish version of the ICD coding system is used, the causes of death are coded according to the international ICD coding system (<u>www.who.int</u>).

3.3.4 Demographic registers

Statistics Sweden (<u>www.scb.se</u>) keeps registers of demographic data. The following register sources were used in this thesis.

3.3.4.1 The Register of the Total Population

The Register of the Total Population is kept at Statistics Sweden since 1968 and is a subset of the population register held at the Swedish Tax Agency (Skatteverket) for tax administration. This register includes for example information on birth, sex, residence, civil status, death, country of birth, and migration. We used the Register of the Total Population for sampling general population comparators to the patients with RA.

3.3.4.2 Longitudinal Integration Database for Health Insurance and Labor Market Studies (LISA)

This database includes aggregated data by calendar year since 1990 from both Statistics Sweden, the Social Insurance Agency, and the Swedish Agency for Innovative Systems. The focus of the register is on the individual but also variables connected to family, companies, and places of employment are included. The individual section includes for example data on gainful employment, income, compensation from social insurances, and years of education (≤ 9 , 10-12, and ≥ 12 years).

From the LISA database and for the included studies, we used only the level of education. The annually aggregated data on compensation for sickness or disability could not be used in the analyses including sick leave and disability pension (**paper II-IV**), since these analyses are in relation to a specific date (RA onset in **paper II**, and date of randomization in the Swefot trial in **paper III** and **paper IV**). Instead, we used data on a daily level directly from registers kept at the Social Insurance Agency.

3.3.5 Registers at the Social Insurance Agency

In the registers at the Social Insurance Agency, among other social insurance compensations sick leave and disability pension episodes as well as economic compensation are recorded. The sick leave (*sjukpenning* in Swedish) compensation of the first time period is covered by the employer, except the 1st unpaid day, and during the study period this has been day 2-14. Hence, from day 15 the sick leave is registered by the Social Insurance Agency (as 15 days and not as 1 day). Both sick leave and disability pension (in Swedish *sjukersättning* in individuals 30-64y, and *aktivitetsersättning* in individuals 19-29y) can be part-time or full-time (25%, 50%, 75%, or 100%).

The Social Insurance Agency has established a database for this register where the researcher may request data on different perspectives (on an individual level or by benefit), and types of compensations.⁸⁵ Depending on data source used, and in comparison to the annually summarized data of sick leave and disability pension in LISA, the analysis may not be straight forward. In our case, where we analyzed the total days of work loss adding sick leave and disability pension together (**paper II-IV**),

it could result in that the total compensation in individuals that have had overlapping periods of sick leave and disability pension accumulate more than 100% work loss. The reason for this is that sick leave is registered as the percentage of the time left after reducing the time on disability pension. For example, an individual with 50% disability pension and 100% sick leave during the same period, would have a net of half time disability pension and half time sick leave.

3.4 STUDY POPULATION AND OUTCOMES

In this section the study population and the outcomes of each study are described.

3.4.1 Paper I – Incidence of RA

In **paper I** the nationwide register-assessed incidence of RA in Sweden was estimated. We also analyzed how the incidence varied across age, sex, geography and demography. In order to describe the sensitivity of the register-based definition of incident RA, from a register-based research perspective, the robustness of different RA case definitions was tested.

The overall mean annual incidence during 2006-2008 was estimated, which means that the numerator was the number of new cases with RA, also referred to as incident RA, in 2006, 2007, and 2008. The denominator was the number of adult residents in Sweden in 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively (population at risk). The cut-off age of 18 years was used as patients in the Swedish health care system are not treated in adult care until they turn 18.

The coverage of patients with new onset RA in the SRQ is high, but not complete (estimated coverage 78% in 2012).⁸⁰ To estimate the incidence we therefore also identified patients with RA in the National Patient Register. We used both the inpatient and the outpatient component of the register as well as both main and contributory diagnoses, and identified patients by using ICD8-10 codes (**Table 3**).

ICD version	ICD codes
ICD10	M05, M06.0, M06.2, M06.3, M06.8, M06.9, M12.3
ICD9	714A/B/C/W, 719D
ICD8	712.10/20/38/39

Table 3 ICD codes used for identifying patients listing diagnosis for rheumatoid arthritis

The base case register-based definition of incident RA required fulfillment of 3 criteria:

- Primary identification: Patients ≥18 years with a first ever inpatient or non-primary outpatient care visit listing a main or contributory diagnosis for RA, or registered in the SRQ with an incident RA diagnosis in 2006-2008.
- 2. *Follow-up visit:* A second discharge or non-primary outpatient care visit for RA within 1 year after the first visit.
- 3. *Exclusion of potential prevalent cases:* Patients with any registered DMARD treatment >6 months before the first visit with RA were excluded.

A more liberal as well as a more strict definition were tested. In the liberal definition, we used the same definition as in the base case, but without criterion 3. In the strict definition, the criterion of at least one of the visits should be at a rheumatology or internal medicine department was added.

We estimated crude incidence rates as well as standardized to age, sex, and/or level of education of the Swedish population in 2008.

In this study we also assessed the anti-rheumatic treatment penetration of biologic and non-biologic DMARDs, and glucocorticoids by collecting data on prescriptions of non-infusion drugs from the

Prescribed Drug Register according to ATC codes (**Table 4**), while infusion biologic drug use was collected from the SRQ (abatacept, infliximab, rituximab, and tocilizumab).

Drug group	Drug	ATC codes
	Auranofin	M01CB03
	Azathioprine	L04AX01
	Ciclosporin	L04AD01
	Hydroxychloroquine	P01BA02
Non-biologic DMARDs	Chloroquine	P01BA01
	Methotrexate	L01BA01
		L04AX03
	Sodium aurothiomalate	M01CB01
	Sulfasalazine	A07EC01
	Abatacept	L04AA24
	Adalimumab	L04AB04
	Anakinra	L04AC03
	Certolizumab pegol	L04AB05
Biologic DMARDs	Etanercept	L04AB01
	Golimumab	L04AB06
	Infliximab	L04AB02
	Rituximab	L01XC02
	Tocilizumab	L04AC07
Glucocorticoids	Prednisolone	H02AB06

Table 4 ATC codes used for identifying prescriptions of DMARDS and glucocorticoids

3.4.2 Paper II – Costs for hospital care, drugs and lost work days in RA

In this study the annual costs for health care and lost work days in patients with prevalent and incident RA were assessed. Incident cases were defined as the base case definition in **paper I**, but using 2009 as the primary identification year instead of 2006-2008. Prevalent cases were defined as alive and living in Sweden on 1 January 2010, with \geq 2 visits listing RA from the National Patient Register and/or included with a diagnosis of RA in the SRQ. All costs for the patients with RA were compared to their comparators matched 5:1 on age, sex, education level, residence, and year, in order to obtain a benchmark for the cost attributable to the RA disease.

Costs for hospital care, drugs, and lost work days were assessed during 2010 in prevalent patients, while for incident patients these cost components were collected during 1 year of follow-up from the register identification date (1^{st} ever visit listing RA in 2009). In the analysis costs were estimated in SEK, but converted to 2010 euros ($\xi 1 = 9.54$ SEK in 2010) in the presented results.

3.4.2.1 Health care costs

To estimate the cost for hospital admissions and visits in non-primary outpatient care the price per DRG was used. This is a weighted average of costs per diagnostic related group, and is supposed to cover the expenses for the hospital of the health care delivered.

Costs for drugs, except for infusion drugs, were collected directly from the Prescribed Drug Register, while data on in-hospital drug use given by infusion (abatacept, infliximab, rituximab, and tocilizumab)

were collected from the SRQ and turned into costs by using the 2010 drug costs in Sweden (<u>www.tlv.se</u>).

3.4.2.2 Productivity losses

In the main analysis the value of work days lost was estimated by using the human capital approach, including all days on sick leave and disability pension during follow-up. To estimate the productivity losses, we multiplied the accumulated days of work loss with the average Swedish salary, including social fees (31%), in 2010 (www.scb.se). In order to simplify comparisons to some previous cost studies of RA, we also valued the work loss by using the friction cost method in sensitivity analysis, with a friction time of 6 months for individuals to be replaced.

3.4.3 Paper III – Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and work loss in early RA

Patients not responding to initial methotrexate monotherapy were randomly assigned to the addition of either infliximab (also referred to as biological treatment group) or sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine (conventional treatment group, also referred to as triple therapy; Figure 4). Days of sick leave and disability pension, with a maximum of 30 compensated days/month, were analyzed in all patients <63y (retirement age was 65y during the study period) who had undergone randomization. In the main analysis, all randomized patients were included using the ITT approach, and the sum of monthly sick leave and disability pension days was compared between the treatment arms at 12 and 21 months after randomization. A few patients never received their allocated treatment, and were removed in a modified intention-to-treat analysis. In addition, we also conducted a per protocol analysis in all patients that completed the treatment 1 and/or 2 years according to the protocol. Finally, to describe the work loss development in comparison to the general population, we also computed the sick leave and disability pension days in matched general population comparators included in the register-enriched database.

3.4.4 Paper IV – Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination treatment in early RA

All randomized patients, both working age as well as retired, in the Swefot study were included in this cost-effectiveness analysis. We analyzed both the accumulated societal costs and health-related quality of life during 21 months of follow-up (from randomization to end of trial) by computing the ICER.

3.4.4.1 Estimation of costs

We performed the cost-effectiveness analysis both from the health care and the societal perspective. Included cost components were anti-rheumatic drugs, inpatient care, non-primary outpatient care, sick leave, and disability pension. As in **paper II**, we assessed costs for hospital admissions and visits in non-primary outpatient care using the weighted average price per DRG.

Anti-rheumatic drug use was collected from the SRQ, where anti-rheumatic treatment information were recorded during the Swefot trial. Data on drug prescriptions from the Prescribed Drug Register, which started in July 2005, was not available for all patients during their follow-up. Drug doses and

frequencies for biologics, conventional DMARDs, glucocorticoids, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs was turned into costs by using the 2011 drug prices in Sweden (<u>www.tlv.se</u>).

Productivity losses were estimated similarly as in **paper II**. Complete and objectively assessed day level data on sick leave and disability pension were available from the registers at the Social Insurance Agency. We used the human capital approach for estimating the productivity losses in the main analysis, and the friction cost method, with a friction period of 6 months for individuals to be replaced, in sensitivity analysis.

All costs were converted to 2011 euros (€1 = 9.03 SEK in 2011).

3.4.4.2 Estimation of quality adjusted life years (QALYs)

EQ-5D utility was collected quarterly in the Swefot trial. We calculated the area under the curve for the utility scores plotted against time using the trapezoid method, where the area under the curve represents the accumulated QALYs during follow-up. The UK EQ-5D preference set was used in the main analysis. We also conducted a sensitivity analysis with the EQ-5D US tariff.

3.4.4.3 Discounting

In cost-effectiveness analysis the general recommendation is to apply an annual discount rate on both costs and effects. In this study, given the short follow-up time with only 9 months beyond the first year considered for discounting, the results are presented undiscounted.

3.4.4.4 ICER

The ICER was calculated by taking the difference in cost divided by the difference in QALYs between the infliximab arm and the conventional treatment arm.

3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All statistical methods for analyzing the data included in this thesis are presented here.

3.5.1 Poisson distribution

The Poisson distribution was used to describe the uncertainty around the incidence rate in **paper I**, by assuming that the number of incident cases followed this distribution.

The Poisson distribution is a discrete probability distribution that is used to describe the variability around a known average rate of occurrence. If an average rate is known, and the events occur independently of the time since the last event, the Poisson distribution describes the probability that a given number of events will occur.²⁶

3.5.2 Kaplan-Meier estimator

In **paper III** the time to discontinuation by the randomly allocated treatments (infliximab versus conventional treatment group) are presented in a Kaplan-Meier survival curve.

The Kaplan-Meier estimator measures, over time, the fraction of subjects that have not had the event of interest, i.e. the probability of each event at the time it occurs.⁸⁶ This method is widely used in survival analysis, due to its efficient use of the available information in censored data.

3.5.3 Cox regression

A Cox regression model was fitted in **paper III**, and presented together with the Kaplan-Meier survival curve, to assess the between-group differences in time to discontinuation by the randomly allocated drug (infliximab versus conventional treatment group).

Cox regression, or Cox proportional hazard regression, is widely used in survival analysis where the time, which may be associated to any characteristics included in the model, to any event is analyzed.²⁵ The hazard ratio is computed between the exposed and unexposed group for a certain characteristic, and is defined as the ratio of new cases per population at risk per unit time between the groups that are compared. As noted in the name, the hazards are assumed to be proportional over time. Therefore no assumptions need to be made about the shape of the underlying risk distribution since the baseline hazard is canceled out in the regression formula. For this reason Cox regression is usually considered to be a semi-parametric model.

3.5.4 Analysis of covariance

In **paper III** we used analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to estimate the differences at 12 and 21 months after randomization in compensated days of sick leave and disability pension between the treatment arms (infliximab versus conventional treatment group). The analysis was adjusted for days of work loss during the 30 days before randomization.

ANCOVA is a general linear model that mixes analysis of variance (ANOVA) and regression. When comparing two groups using a continuous outcome, two parallel straight lines are obtained relating outcome to any covariates in the model. Advantages of using ANCOVA with baseline and follow-up measurements are that it generally has greater statistical power to detect a treatment effect
compared to other methods, such as change score analysis, but foremost, it is a powerful method to measure change from baseline to follow-up by adjusting for potential baseline imbalances between groups.⁸⁷

In our example, we estimate the difference between the treatment groups and adjust this difference in work loss to what it would be if everyone had the same number of days of work loss before randomization.

The ANCOVA in **paper III** can be expressed as a single regression equation:

$WorkDaysLost_{12/21months} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Group + \beta_2 WorkDaysLost_{baseline} + \varepsilon$

where β_0 is a constant (intercept), β_1 is the effect of interest (i.e. the difference between the treatment arms), and β_2 the effect of baseline adjustment.

Since the estimated difference between two groups is the vertical distance between the regression lines, one assumption using ANCOVA is that the slopes of the regression lines for the groups should be equal, i.e. they should be parallel. Other assumptions include linear relation between the dependent variable and covariates, and normal distribution of the error terms (but not necessarily for the dependent variable or covariates).

3.5.5 A note on statistical power in the Swefot trial

Aiming for enrollment of 600 patients, the Swefot trial was initially designed to detect a difference of 15% in the treatment effect, based on disease activity using the EULAR criteria,⁸¹ between the infliximab and the conventional treatment arm with a statistical power of 90% (α =0.05). With slower recruitment of patients to the trial than anticipated, in the end, a total of 487 patients were enrolled to the study, resulting in a reduced estimated statistical power to 75%.

In **paper III**, 105 and 99 patients of working age were included in the infliximab and the conventional treatment group, respectively, for comparison of monthly days of sick leave and disability pension between the treatment arms. The number of patients needed at a given power to detect a difference of 2-6 work loss days per month is presented in **Figure 5**. For example, with 100 patients in each group, a mean difference of 5 days/month between the treatment arms can be detected at a power of 85%.





3.5.6 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)

In **paper IV** we computed the ICER between the two treatment strategies of the Swefot trial as the difference in the accumulated costs divided by the difference in accumulated effects between the infliximab and the conventional treatment arm.

$$ICER = \frac{Cost_{Infliximab} - Cost_{Conventional treatment}}{Effect_{Infliximab} - Effect_{Conventional treatment}}$$

Since the ICER is a ratio it is not straight forward to compute the uncertainty of the ICER point estimate. However, one method for estimating the uncertainty around the ICER point estimate is to use nonparametric bootstrapping,⁸⁸ and present the result in a scatterplot in the cost-effectiveness plane, or as a probability of the ICER point estimate to be below a certain willingness-to-pay per QALY ratio in a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve.

3.5.7 Seemingly unrelated regression

We used a seemingly unrelated regression equation⁸⁹ for computing the ICER for the infliximab compared to the conventional treatment group in **paper IV**. The analysis was adjusted for potential baseline imbalances in age, sex, EQ-5D, DAS28 and health assessment questionnaire (HAQ) scores at randomization, as well as accumulated costs during 60 days before randomization. It was also repeated unadjusted for other covariates.

Compared to ordinary least square regression, the seemingly unrelated regression method has the advantage of capturing correlation between costs and effects and might result in higher efficiency.⁸⁹

3.5.8 Bootstrapping

The uncertainty around the mean estimates of costs, effects, and the ICER in **paper IV** was assessed using non-parametric bootstrapping with 1000 iterations. In **paper II** we used bias-corrected and accelerated bootstrapping⁹⁰ to estimate the between-group difference in days of work loss with 95% confidence intervals.

Bootstrapping is a technique where sampling is performed on the existing data. Since no assumptions on the underlying distribution is made, bootstrapping is useful in situations where the variable of interest is skewed. A number of iterations of sampling with replacement (usually \geq 1000) are applied, and for each of the iterations statistics are computed.⁹¹

4 **RESULTS**

In this section the results from each study is presented.

4.1 PAPER I

In 2006 to 2008, 8826 individuals were identified as incident RA according to the base case definition, which corresponded to an overall incidence of 40.6 per 100,000 (95% CI 39.7 to 41.4). The overall incidence in women (55.7 per 100,000; 95% CI 54.3 to 57.1) was more than twice the incidence observed in men (25.0 per 100,000; 95% CI 24.0 to 25.9).

In age and sex specific analysis we observed an increasing incidence with age until the 70-79 years age group, with 102 per 100,000 for women and 67 per 100,000 for men, and thereafter the incidence decreased in the oldest (**Figure 6**).

When using the liberal definition of incident RA, the overall incidence estimate increased to 46.4 per 100,000 (+14%), while when using the strict definition the incidence estimate decreased to 36.8 per 100,000 (-9%; Figure 6). We also noted a high biologic and non-biologic DMARD penetration from 6 months before until 2 years after first RA diagnosis across all definitions (>90%) as well as across age groups (>90% in all age groups except patients \geq 80 years old).

Although no geographic gradient was found, we found a clear gradient across population density and level of education, with lower standardized estimates in population dense areas and among individuals with higher education level (51 to 44 to 33 per 100,000 in individuals \geq 9 years, 10-12 years, and >12 years, respectively).



Figure 6 Mean annual register-based incidence of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) per 100,000 by sex and age for the liberal, base case and strict definition of RA. The overall incidence by case definition is indicated in parentheses.

4.2 PAPER II

Of 49,829 patients identified as prevalent RA, the mean annual cost per patient in the 18-64 years group was €23,147 (versus €8364 in matched general population comparators), where 75% was accounted for by productivity losses, and only 25% by health care costs (**Figure 7**). In the ≥65 years group the mean health care cost was €6438 (versus €2773 in comparators).

Among the prevalent patients with RA using biologics the mean annual total cost in 18-64 years was $\leq 32,626$, and in the ≥ 65 years group $\leq 15,235$, which was 4 and 6-7 times the cost in their matched general population comparators, respectively. In non-biologic users the mean total cost was $\leq 19,628$ in the 18-64 years group and ≤ 5275 in the ≥ 65 years group.

Among the patients with incident RA (n=2695), the mean monthly cost increased from a level close to the matched general population comparators 12 months before the register identification, peaked the month following the identification date, and decreased to twice the cost of the comparators 1 year thereafter (**Figure 8**). One year after the register identification, the monthly societal cost in the 18-64 years group was €1252 versus €628 in the comparators (mean difference €624; 95% Cl 517 to 740). Among the older patients the monthly health care cost was €487 versus €230 in the comparators (mean difference €258; 95% Cl 181 to 350).

The cost distributions were heavily right skewed in both the incident and the prevalent patients with RA, with approximately 13% of the patients accounted for 50% of the annual total cost.



Figure 7 Mean (bars) and median (black dots) annual costs in patients with prevalent rheumatoid arthritis (RA), prevalent RA treated with biologics, and matched general population comparators

RA treated with biologics: patients with RA, with any dispensed non-infusion biologics in 2009, or with an ongoing treatment of infusion biologics on 1 January 2010; Comparators: general population comparators matched 5:1 by age, sex, education level, place of residence, and year.



Figure 8 Mean (bars) and median (black dots) monthly costs in patients with incident rheumatoid arthritis (RA) 18-64 years (upper panel) and ≥65 years (lower panel), and mean monthly cost in comparators (white diamonds), in relation to register identification date

Comparators: general population comparators matched 5:1 by age, sex, education level, place of residence, and year.

4.3 PAPER III

Out of 493 patients that were screened for inclusion to the Swefot trial from October 2002 through December 2005, 487 were enrolled in the study. Of 258 randomized patients, with DAS28 >3.2 after 3-4 months of methotrexate monotherapy, 204 were <63 years at randomization, whereof 105 were randomly allocated to infliximab and 99 to conventional combination treatment. Seven patients in the infliximab and 4 in the conventional treatment group never received the study drug. In the infliximab arm 69% (n=72) followed the study per protocol for 21 months, while 53% (n=52) in the conventional treatment arm completed the study according to protocol. The hazard ratio for the difference in time to discontinuation in the infliximab compared to the conventional treatment group at 21 months after randomization was 0.51 (95% CI 0.31 to 0.82).

Mean sick leave and disability pension days at randomization were 17 days/month in both groups (mean difference 0.6; 95% CI -3.0 to 3.9). Using the ITT approach, the mean changes in sick leave and disability pension at 21 months after randomization were -4.9 days/month in the infliximab and -6.2 days/month in the conventional treatment group (adjusted mean difference 1.6; 95% CI -1.2 to 4.4).

Excluding patients that never received the study drug in a modified ITT analysis, the adjusted mean difference was 1.5 days/month (95% CI -1.5 to 4.4), and in per-protocol analysis the adjusted mean difference was 0.3 days/month (95% CI -2.8 to 3.8).

Similar to the results at 21 months after randomization, no significant differences were observed in ITT, modified ITT, or per-protocol analyses at 12 months after randomization.

Work loss in relation to general population comparators

At 1 year before randomization, the overall mean monthly days of sick leave and disability pension started to increase from the same level as in the general population (5 days/month), and increased to 20 and 18 days/month in the (future) infliximab and the conventional treatment groups, respectively, at the start of the run-in period (**Figure 9**). Compared to the general population, the randomized patients reduced their monthly days of sick leave and disability pension from a level 3 times greater at randomization to twice the days at 21 months after randomization, with most of the observed reduction already present after 6 months.

Work loss in non-randomized patients

Patients of working age who after the run-in period did not undergo randomization, most of whom responded to the methotrexate monotherapy (defined as a DAS28 \leq 3.2; n=135), started from a lower level at the time of methotrexate monotherapy initiation as compared to the randomized patients. The non-randomized group decreased their monthly work loss days from 12 to 8 days/month during the run-in period, and further decreased their work loss days to the level of the general population 7 months thereafter (6 days/month; Figure 9).



Figure 9 Mean monthly days on sick leave and disability pension in relation to date of randomization (maximum 30 days)

Run-in period: Methotrexate monotherapy; Controls: General population comparators matched 5:1 by age, sex, education level, place of residence, and year; error bars: SEs; Infliximab: Infliximab plus methotrexate; Conventional treatment: Sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine plus methotrexate; Non-randomized: Nonrandomized patients of whom a majority had a favorable DAS28 response after the run-in period.

4.4 PAPER IV

Out of the 258 randomized patients in the Swefot trial, 128 were randomized to infliximab and 130 to conventional combination treatment. A few patients never received the randomly allocated drug (8 patients in the infliximab group and 5 patients in the conventional treatment group). A higher proportion of patients in the infliximab arm completed 2 years of follow-up compared to the conventional treatment arm, 70% (n=90) versus 57% (n=74), respectively.

Costs

With the high cost of infliximab, the patients in the infliximab arm incurred higher health care costs compared to the conventional treatment arm (\leq 19,215 versus \leq 4710; adjusted mean difference \leq 14,280; 95% CI 12,269 to 16,101; **Figure 10**). Furthermore, the patients in the infliximab group had more rheumatology clinic visits, resulting in higher costs of health care use than the conventional treatment group (\leq 8272 versus \leq 5653; adjusted mean difference \leq 2676; 95% CI 1425 to 4058).

In the main analysis using the human capital approach, no difference in productivity losses was detected between the infliximab and the conventional treatment group (€33,804 versus €29,220; adjusted mean difference €3961; 95% CI -3986 to 11,850). A similar result was obtained in sensitivity analysis when instead the friction cost method was applied for valuation of productivity losses.

The higher health care costs in the infliximab arm resulted in higher total costs from both the societal ($\leq 61,291$ versus $\leq 39,584$; adjusted mean difference $\leq 20,916$; 95% CI 12,800 to 28,660) and the health care perspective ($\leq 27,487$ versus $\leq 10,364$; adjusted mean difference $\leq 16,956$; 95% CI 14,647 to 19,162).

QALYs

During the 21 months of follow-up from randomization, the infliximab group accumulated on average 1.10 QALYs while the conventional treatment group accumulated on average 1.12 QALYs (adjusted mean difference favoring the infliximab arm 0.01; 95% CI -0.07 to 0.08).⁹²

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)

Including productivity losses the ICER from the societal perspective between the infliximab and the conventional treatment group was €2,404,197 per QALY, while only including health care costs the ICER from the health care perspective was €1,948,919 per QALY (**Figure 11**). As Figure 11 indicates, no bootstrap sample was cost saving for the infliximab compared to the conventional treatment group, and 60% of the bootstrap samples displayed a higher accumulated QALY in the infliximab arm and thus presented in quadrant I.



Conventional treatment

Figure 10 Specific and total costs from the health care and societal perspective for the infliximab versus the conventional treatment strategy

Infliximab: Infliximab plus methotrexate;

Conventional treatment: Sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine plus methotrexate.





5 DISCUSSION

5.1 MAIN FINDINGS

This thesis describes how register-enriched quality of care register data can be used in studying the occurrence and burden of disease, including considerations of possible limitations with registeridentification of cases. Furthermore, with a randomized pragmatic clinical trial included in the register framework, we have provided information on health economic outcomes to a common clinical question in early RA, namely whether to continue treatment by adding a biologic alternative or to continue with a conventional combination treatment strategy after insufficient response to methotrexate.

More specifically, by enriching the SRQ with data from Swedish national health registers, demographic registers, and the registers at the Social Insurance Agency, the aims of this thesis were to (i) estimate the nationwide incidence of RA in Sweden overall and across subgroups of age, sex, demography, and geography, (ii) estimate the annual burden in terms of costs of hospital care, drugs, and lost work days in incident and prevalent RA, (iii) compare the effect on work loss in a treatment strategy of adding infliximab versus adding further conventional DMARDs in patients with methotrexate-refractory early RA, and (iv) to estimate the incremental cost-effectiveness of the infliximab versus the conventional treatment strategy.

5.1.1 Incidence of RA

We estimated the nationwide incidence of RA in Sweden to 41 per 100,000. The incidence in women and men was 56 and 25 per 100,000, respectively, and increased considerably with age with a peak in the 70-79 years age group in both sexes. Using age- and sex standardized estimates, lower incidences were observed in densely populated areas and in individuals with high education level, but no geographic trends were detected. Changing the register-based case definition of RA to a more liberal and a more strict definition, respectively, altered the incidence estimates by less than 15%.

5.1.2 Costs for hospital care, drugs, and lost work days in RA

In 22,000 prevalent working age patients with RA the mean annual societal cost was €23,000, of which one quarter was attributed health care costs and three quarters to productivity losses. This cost was 2-3 times higher than the corresponding costs in general population comparators, resulting in an estimated annual cost of €15,000 attributable to RA. The corresponding mean annual incremental cost in retirement age prevalent patients with RA (n=28,000) was €4000, with inpatient care as the largest cost component.

In new onset RA, the mean monthly cost increased from a level close to that of the general population 12 months before the first registered RA diagnosis. A peak in mean monthly costs was observed one month after the identification date of RA diagnosis, and then decreased to twice the cost as compared to the general population 12 months thereafter.

The cost distributions were heavily skewed, with less than 15% of the patients contributed with more than half of the total annual cost.

5.1.3 Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and work loss in early RA

In patients with early RA and an insufficient response to methotrexate monotherapy who were randomly allocated to receive infliximab or conventional combination therapy in addition to methotrexate, the monthly days of sick leave and disability pension were significantly reduced over 21 months. However, no difference in work loss days could be detected when comparing the strategies of adding infliximab or adding further conventional DMARDs after methotrexate failure. At 12 months before randomization, the monthly work loss days started to increase from the same level as the general population. At randomization, the observed level of 17 days/month in both treatment arms was 3 times the days in the general population, and at 21 months after the randomization the work loss days were double that in the general population.

Even though the randomized patients did not have a favorable DAS28 response at 3 months, they reduced their work loss days over this run-in-period. However, the observed improvement was much greater in the non-randomized patients, most of whom had a favorable DAS28 response (Figure 9).

5.1.4 Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination treatment in early RA

Over 21 months we observed higher drug and health care costs in patients with methotrexaterefractory early RA who were randomly allocated to infliximab, as compared to those who were randomized to receive conventional combination therapy, while no differences in productivity losses or QALYs between the treatment strategies could be detected. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for the infliximab versus the conventional treatment strategy were ξ ,400,000/QALY from the societal perspective and ξ 1,900,000/QALY from the health care perspective. Given willingness to pay levels that are generally considered to be acceptable (US\$50,000-100,000 or £20,000-30,000 per QALY),⁹³⁻⁹⁵ the infliximab strategy, as compared to the conventional alternative, was not found to be cost-effective over 21 months in this trial.

5.2 PREVIOUS RESEARCH

5.2.1 Incidence of RA

Previous estimates of RA incidence in Sweden have been reported from regional studies from southern Sweden that found more than a 2-fold variation, with 24 versus 50 cases per 100,000.^{96,97} The larger and most recent study by Englund and colleagues reported a higher overall incidence estimate in 2008 as compared to our estimate (50 versus 41 per 100,000). With the exception of their regional and our national study approach, the discrepancy between their study and ours may be due to our better possibilities of excluding prevalent RA patients through both a longer washout period and access to prescription drug data.

An incidence study from the US based on 466 cases between 1995-2007 from Minnesota has been reported by Myasoedova and colleagues.⁹⁸ Although we used a different study design and case ascertainment technique, the overall (their 41 versus our 41 per 100,000) and age as well as sex-specific incidence estimates were remarkably similar to our estimates.

As for European countries, incidence estimates have been reported from Finland (45 per 100,000),⁵³ Denmark (31 per 100,000),⁹⁹ the UK (25 per 100,000),¹⁰⁰ and Italy (35 per 100,000).¹⁰¹ In the reports from Italy, Denmark, and Minnesota, as in our study, the incidence of RA was found to peak in the 6th-7th decade of life in both women and men, while the studies from Finland and the UK reported a more widespread peak before age 60 years. However, another study using the same cohort from Norfolk in the UK,¹⁰⁰ but with longer follow-up time (5 years) for estimating the incidence of RA, still found a widespread peak in women, but with an incidence of 54 per 100,000 in women and 24 per 100,000 in men,¹⁰² which is more comparable to our estimates. Furthermore, in that study, applying the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria at baseline was similar to the estimates using the 1987 ACR classification criteria cumulatively over 5 years.⁵⁶

5.2.2 Costs for hospital care, drugs, and lost work days in RA

A recent review compiled data on cost of illness studies in RA with a comprehensive discussion about difficulties in comparisons between studies due to different methodological approaches, health care settings, and study objectives of the reviewed reports.¹⁰³

Despite these difficulties, another review tried to estimate a weighted mean annual cost based on data from 26 cost of illness studies in RA.¹⁰⁴ They reported a mean annual cost per prevalent RA patient of \notin 4170 in health care costs and \notin 8452 in productivity losses. Our total cost estimates accumulated over 1 year were substantially higher with \notin 6352 in health care costs and \notin 16,907 in productivity losses. More comparable estimates resulted when subtracting the cost of the general population comparators (\notin 4228 in excess health care cost and \notin 9816 in productivity losses). However, our estimates were still higher. One reason for the discrepancy may be that the weighted mean annual cost estimates in the review were partly based on studies before or very early in the biologic era (8 studies published before 2003).

As with previous estimates of the incidence of RA, cost estimates have also been reported based on questionnaire data from southern Sweden in patients with established RA.⁷² The mean annual cost per patient was estimated to approximately €12,000 (ours €13,665), with productivity losses accounting

for 55% of the total cost (73% in our study). Although this study was conducted in a regional sample in the early biological era, the estimates are largely in keeping with ours. However, this study also included cost components that we did not have access to, i.e. costs associated to primary care visits, community services and transportation, patient costs, and informal care, which together accounted for 18% of the estimated total cost in the study.

With respect to productivity losses during the first year in newly diagnosed patients with RA, an overall cost estimate in the working age population of the FIN-RACo trial from Finland,¹⁰⁵ was reported to be €8320 in 2002.¹⁰⁶ In their study, RA-related disability pension and sick leave for any reason were included in the analysis. Reducing our estimate of productivity losses with the corresponding costs in the general population comparators resulted in an estimated work loss cost attributable to RA of €6560. With the exception of the sick leave estimates due to any reason in their study, the discrepancy may also be explained by more aggressive treatment alternatives in our study as well as stricter regulations in the welfare system in Sweden during recent years, with decreasing days of both sick leave and disability pension during the recent decade in patients with RA.^{8,107}

5.2.3 Infliximab versus conventional combination treatment and work loss in early RA

Data from RCTs including patients with early RA have shown that the most used TNF inhibitors in RA (infliximab, etanercept, and adalimumab) in combination with methotrexate are clinically and radiologically superior to methotrexate alone.^{15,108,109} However, the recent double-blind randomized controlled TEAR (Treatment of Early Aggressive Rheumatoid Arthritis) trial showed similar results in disease activity and small differences in radiographic progression after 2 years, as was found from the Swefot trial,⁶⁶ in treatment strategies of patients randomly allocated to methotrexate plus etanercept or triple therapy, regardless of immediate initiation or following insufficient response to methotrexate monotherapy.⁶⁴ From the same trial, similar estimates in disease activity and small differences in radiographic progression were observed after 2 years between groups of subjects who were randomized to immediate methotrexate monotherapy who thereafter had a sufficient response after 24 weeks (DAS28 <3.2), to immediate methotrexate with step-up combination therapy at 24 weeks due to insufficient response (DAS28 \geq 3.2), and to immediate methotrexate in combination with sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine or to methotrexate plus etanercept.¹¹⁰

In studies based on self-reported data, early treatment initiation after diagnosis, as compared to starting treatment later in the disease course, has been shown to have a stronger effect on work loss.^{111,112} Several studies have reported the impact of biological agents on work participation,¹¹³ where only four identified studies have used an RCT design.¹³⁻¹⁶ All four studies compared TNFi plus methotrexate with methotrexate alone, and found a significant improvement favoring the TNFi therapy. However, none of the studies compared TNFi plus methotrexate to combination DMARD therapy, analyzed the effect in methotrexate refractory early RA, and all used self-reported work loss data. These study characteristics compounded with the addition to different approaches to assess work loss and different follow-up periods complicate comparisons between these studies and ours. The FIN-RACo trial reported that a strategy of starting combination DMARD therapy is superior to single DMARD therapy in early RA.¹⁰⁵ Rather than using single DMARD therapy as comparison, it appears therefore more reasonable to compare a biologic combination alternative to a combination DMARD therapy.

5.2.4 Cost-effectiveness of infliximab versus conventional combination treatment in early RA

To the best of our knowledge, no previous study from a randomized trial has presented costeffectiveness results based on directly observed costs and quality of life in methotrexate-refractory early RA.

The BeSt trial compared four different treatment strategies in patients with early RA,⁶³ and found that a strategy of initial infliximab plus methotrexate therapy resulted in more QALYs and less productivity losses, as compared to initial combination therapy with methotrexate, sulfasalazine, and prednisone.¹¹⁴ However, the analysis has been criticized for not adjusting for potential imbalances in baseline productivity, with the argument that substantial differences in incremental costs were observed when assessing productivity losses using the human capital or the friction cost method.¹¹⁵ Comparisons with our results to the results from the BeSt study may be difficult. The BeSt study did not include a strategy starting with triple therapy and patients had not previously failed methotrexate, while work loss and utility were improved already during the run-in period of methotrexate monotherapy in the Swefot trial.

As discussed, the randomized double-blind TEAR trial showed similar clinical outcomes and small although statistically significant radiographic differences between four treatment strategies after 2 years in early RA patients. In this trial, patients were randomly allocated to immediate etanercept plus methotrexate, immediate triple therapy, or to two different step-up strategies with the same treatment alternatives but with immediate methotrexate monotherapy as first-line treatment. Preliminary results presented in abstract form in a life-time horizon cost-effectiveness modelling study based on the TEAR trial indicate that the strategy of immediate etanercept plus methotrexate, as compared to the immediate triple therapy strategy, was not found to be cost-effective in relation to what most health care settings consider to be acceptable (ICER = \$837 100).¹¹⁶

Similar clinical and radiographic outcomes have also been reported after 5 years of follow-up in the NEO-RACo trial,¹¹⁷ where patients with early RA were randomly allocated to receive immediate therapy with infliximab or placebo, in addition to combination therapy with methotrexate, sulfasalazine, hydroxychloroquine, and prednisolone.⁶⁷ Finally, in patients with established RA included in the double-blind randomized noninferiority RACAT (Comparison of Active Therapies) trial, triple therapy was also found to be noninferior to methotrexate plus etanercept after 48 weeks of follow-up regarding disease activity and radiographic progression.⁶⁸ Although no health economic analysis has been presented from either the NEO-RACo or the RACAT study, the higher drug cost in the TNFi arm would likely favor the conventional treatment strategy.

5.3 IMPLICATIONS

Using a register-enriched quality of care register methodology enables a strong observational study design with long-term follow-up of real-world patients for many different outcomes and to an affordable cost. In contrast, while the RCT is one of the most powerful tools available in medical research, randomized trials are often very expensive to conduct leading to a limited number of patients enrolled, or that the intended trial may not be conducted at all, with potential power issues and concerns relating to representativeness of the results. By combining the randomization procedure

in a pragmatic clinical trial setting with the observational register-enriched platform, the study design becomes far more powerful enabling safety, effectiveness, and cost-effectiveness assessments of treatment alternatives in a large sample and to a low additional cost, while at the same time accounting for unmeasured confounders and selection bias. With the improvement and enormous opportunities to conduct effective medical research in relation to cost when combining strengths from randomized trial and prospectively recorded register data,^{10,118,119} and given that over 80 Swedish registers are of sufficient quality to be certified as quality of care registers, efforts should be prioritized to enable randomized register trials to a higher extent in medical research in Sweden.

With respect to methotrexate-refractory patients with early RA in the Swefot trial, over 21 months, work loss and quality of life improved similarly in a treatment strategy of adding infliximab as compared to adding further conventional DMARDs to methotrexate, while higher costs were observed in the infliximab arm. Based on these results, an attempt with conventional combination therapy appears reasonable before starting infliximab treatment, both from a clinical and economic perspective. However, less radiographic progression was observed in those patients starting infliximab therapy after methotrexate failure, why larger studies and longer follow-up may be warranted to confirm the study conclusion.

In addition to the non-responders of methotrexate monotherapy who were randomized to a combination therapy in the Swefot trial, we also analyzed work loss outcomes in the non-randomized group, and observed a substantial decline in monthly work loss days after methotrexate monotherapy initiation. In less than a year after the month of run-in, the average number of monthly work loss days was at the same level as the general population, a finding that supports the notion that it is acceptable to delay a more aggressive treatment alternative for a few months in favor of methotrexate monotherapy. This finding has been supported by data from the recent TEAR trial including poor prognosis early RA, as well as previous reports from the Swefot study, where patients who had a favorable response to methotrexate monotherapy within 6 months continued to do well both clinically and radiographically.^{110,120} However, no analysis using work loss as an outcome has been reported from the TEAR trial.

With an immediate aggressive combination therapy, rather than a step-up treatment strategy, the risk of over-treating in the approximately one third of patients with early RA who respond to the initial methotrexate therapy would be reduced, with reduced risks of adverse consequences. However, immediate initiation of aggressive therapy may be warranted in some patients, and predictors of achieving EULAR good response at the time of initiation with methotrexate monotherapy has previously been investigated in the participants of the Swefot trial.¹²¹

5.4 STRENGTHS

In this population-based matched cohort study design, detailed clinical data from the SRQ was used as a foundation, with patients enrolled in the randomized Swefot trial included, and were linked to nationwide register data. This design enabled follow-up of patients with RA alongside general population comparators, both backward and forward in time from the date of RA diagnosis, and date of randomization for patients in the Swefot trial. The matched comparators served as a benchmark of mean annual cost of health care, drugs, and productivity losses (paper II; Figure 7 and 8), as well as a benchmark for mean monthly days of sick leave and disability pension (paper III; Figure 9) in the general population as compared to newly diagnosed patients with RA. Thus, the overall cost, including loss of work days, associated with the RA disease could be estimated.

Non-response and recall bias, associated with questionnaires, were avoided by access to nationwide health care data from inpatient and non-primary outpatient care, prescription drugs, and objectively assessed sick leave and disability pension. All these data were on an individual level and on a daily basis, and were available for all study subjects, including those patients who discontinued the Swefot trial, as well as for general population comparators. The use of national data sources also resulted in a large sample size of incident patients, with the possibility of robust subgroup estimates and of testing different case definitions of register-based incident RA. The methodology used in the incidence study of RA (paper I), as in register-based methodology in general, is relatively easy to reproduce with the same setting and may be used in time-trend analysis in future data linkages. Moreover, the detailed clinical data of quality of life from the SRQ combined with cost components captured from national registers, enabled, to the best of our knowledge, the first cost-effectiveness analysis of a register-enriched randomized controlled trial (paper IV).

Finally, with respect to the register-based methodology, the data linkage procedure used in this thesis maximizes data use from national health register sources routinely collected in clinical care and from drug prescriptions given in ambulatory care, while the clinical variables entered into the SRQ can be minimized, an important feature to lower the work load for rheumatologists entering data into SRQ.

5.5 LIMITATIONS

The register-based approach also has limitations. One limitation with a register-based study design is that identification of subjects may be sensitive to the case definition of disease based on clinical criteria, such as RA. To qualify as having RA in the SRQ the ACR criteria⁵⁴ are used at inclusion, while this may not be the case for patients listing a diagnosis of RA in the National Patient Register with visits at non-rheumatology departments. In the study of RA incidence (paper I) we assessed the risk of misclassification by testing the sensitivity of the register-identification of incident RA and estimated the treatment penetration in the identified RA cases, given that close to all patients in Sweden with new onset RA are initiating DMARD therapy. Furthermore, a validation study of the RA diagnosis in the National Patient Register showed a high validity, with 90% of prevalent RA fulfilled either of the ACR or the ACR/EULAR classification criteria.⁸⁴

Another limitation is that using a register-based approach may introduce selection bias due to missing individuals who have problems with accessing care, for example older people and people with severe diseases. This may potentially result in an underestimation of the true number of individuals with RA.

From the registers we did not have access to all possible cost components, for example costs related to primary care, physiotherapist visits, stays in rehabilitation units, transportation, presenteeism, unpaid work, and out-of-pocket patient and family costs. With the absence of these cost components the true cost was probably underestimated. A recent review estimated cost associated with patient and family to ≤ 2284 , which was 18% of the total societal cost based on pooled health care costs and productivity losses from different cost of illness studies, and where productivity losses was valued with the human capital approach.¹⁰⁴ A recent study from Norway reported costs associated with visits to

primary care and physiotherapists, and stays in rehabilitation units in patients with RA, who had initiated first-line DMARD therapy, to compose 4.1% of the total cost.¹²² However, while the total societal costs in prevalent and incident RA are likely to be underestimated in our study (paper II), we had access to the major cost components, i.e. health care use, drugs, and productivity losses. Moreover, with the similar improvement in quality of life between the infliximab versus the conventional combination therapy, and the large drug cost difference, it would be unlikely that any potential cost differences in missing cost components would change the study conclusion of the cost-effectiveness analysis.

A further limitation was that we did not have access to sick leave periods shorter than 15 days, which is the time period that was covered by the employer during the study period (except the unpaid 1st day of sick leave). Given the chronic inflammatory and destructive nature of the RA disease, sick leave periods for RA are usually not short. In a study from Finland, with a similar social security system as compared to Sweden, sick leave periods of 10 days or less were found to constitute only 0.2% of total sick leave days in recent onset RA during 5 years of follow-up.¹⁰⁶ This finding indicates that the potential underestimation of sick leave days due to missing short sick leave periods in our data may be limited.

The unblinded design is probably the most important concern with the Swefot trial, i.e. both patients and physicians were aware of the treatment allocation. Single-blinding of the trial was considered, which would be blinding of the treatment allocation when assessing disease activity, but was deemed unfeasible due to limited personnel resources at smaller participating units. However, the work loss outcome (paper III) and cost outcomes (paper IV) were objectively assessed using registers, and the radiological results were assessed by readers masked to the allocated treatment.

With the unblinded design it is not unreasonable to believe that patients allocated to conventional treatment may have been more willing to abandon the allocated therapy for perceived lack of effectiveness, while patients allocated to TNFi therapy may have continued with the regimen knowing that no superior alternative was available. However, findings from the one-year data argue against this hypothesis,⁶⁵ with indeed high disease activity, and at a similar level at the time of discontinuation between the two groups of those who discontinued the allocated treatment.

Other limitations of the work loss (paper III) and the cost-effectiveness (paper IV) studies based on data from the Swefot trial were the short time horizon and the limited number of included study subjects. Rather than diverging, however, the average monthly days of work loss followed a similar trajectory between the infliximab and the conventional combination strategy over 21 months. With no difference in disease activity over 2 years,⁶⁶ and with a similar trajectory in health related quality of life,⁹² it is difficult to consider that the two strategies may start to diverge in the future owing to the small difference in radiographic progression. Data on work loss and health care use will be possible to analyze over longer time horizons, as these outcomes are collected via register-linkage.

With 204 working age patients included in the work loss study (paper III), 258 randomized individuals in the cost-effectiveness analysis (paper IV), and a power analysis in the study-design phase based on disease activity measured after 1 year and not based on work loss days, costs, or QALYs after 21 months, there may be a risk of type II error. From Figure 5 it can be concluded that more than 500

patients per group would be needed to detect a difference in mean lost work days of 1.6 days/month to a power of 75%. An RCT including more than 1000 patients, even enrolling patients included in the SRQ, would be expensive and rather unrealistic to conduct. This together with the possibly unexpected result of a non-significant point estimate (1.6 days/month) not favoring the infliximab treatment indicate that the potential problem with a type II error for detecting a statistical difference may not be a major concern for the conclusion of the study. Again, the quality of life and work loss development showed similar trajectories between the treatment strategies over 21 months of follow-up, while the drug cost was considerably higher in the infliximab arm.

5.6 CONCLUSIONS

Register-enriched quality of care register data in Sweden can be used to study nationwide real-life occurrence and burden of disease with the possibilities of robust subgroup estimates and time-trend analysis by establishing a database that is easy to reproduce and update within the same setting.

By using the SRQ linked to national registers we could estimate the overall incidence of RA in Sweden on a par with previous local but detailed studies, and importantly, beyond estimates across age and sex, describe the variation in age- and sex adjusted incidence according to region, population density, and level of education. With general population comparators individually matched to registeridentified subjects with RA we could also estimate the annual societal cost in prevalent as well as monthly societal cost in newly diagnosed patients with RA to 2-3 times higher relative to the general population. With the individual level data we could further describe the cost distribution. The distribution was found to be heavily right-skewed, with a minority of the patients with RA contributed the majority of the total cost. This emphasizes the notion that predicting and intervening for reducing costs in RA may be very different in different patients segments.

The register-enriched quality of care register data with the observational nature is by itself an important and highly useful database with possibilities to answer an abundance of research questions by using many different outcomes over long time periods and in a real-world setting. However, the true potential is when combining such a framework with a pragmatic randomized controlled trial included in the quality register platform.

The randomized Swefot trial investigated a common clinical situation in early RA, whether to intensify treatment by adding an expensive biologic drug or further conventional DMARDs to patients with insufficient response to methotrexate. Data from enrolled patients were collected in the SRQ, and thus allowed for investigating this research question using different outcomes in a register-enriched randomized controlled trial setting.

With respect to work loss, the decrease in mean monthly work loss days was substantial in both treatment alternatives, with a reduction of 3 times to double that in the general population from randomization to 21 months of follow-up, but no difference between the strategies could be detected at 12 or 21 months after randomization. The remaining gap to the general population indicates a need for earlier diagnosis as well as for more effective treatment strategies of RA.

Finally, by combining quality of life data from the randomized Swefot trial with costs captured from the national registers, similar effects were observed over 21 months, while the infliximab strategy

incurred higher costs, as compared to the conventional treatment. These findings indicate that the infliximab strategy is not cost-effective as second line treatment at willingness-to-pay levels generally considered acceptable.

5.7 FUTURE RESEARCH

The register-based methodology used in this thesis is an effective approach to research that can be conducted to a relatively low cost, and is comparatively easy to replicate in other disease areas. With the many quality of care registers in Sweden that collect data on different diseases and interventions, there is great potential for conducting effective research using similar study designs.

Since the introduction of biologic drugs the research field of RA has attracted more attention and is today an intense and highly active field of medical research. However, many research questions still remain unanswered. In relation to the studies in this thesis the following questions would be of interest

• Incidence of RA:

To understand how future estimates from similar register-based designs with similar registeridentification definitions relate to changes in the classification criteria of RA.

- Need for earlier diagnosis of RA: To identify patients earlier in the disease course of RA may have the potential of improving patients's clinical outcomes as well as reducing sick leave and disability pension days due to RA.
- Treatment in early RA: The overall question is which therapy to initiate in whom, and which therapy to continue with, and in whom, of those not responding to the first-line treatment. That is, how can therapy need be predicted on an individual level?
- Long-term follow-up of register-based outcomes in the Swefot trial:

The radiologically superior outcomes in the infliximab strategy, as compared to the triple therapy strategy, after methotrexate failure may have an effect in the longer term. With the work loss and cost data collected from registers, these outcomes could be investigated over several years by an update of the register linkage with more recent data.

6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Om inte förr, går det upp för mig nu när jag är i färd med att avsluta den här boken och den här resan. Om inte förr, förstår jag nu hur lyckligt lottad jag har varit som doktorand, hur min väg har stakats ut, både uppför och nedför, både i medvind och motvind, både vid framgång och motgång. Om inte förr, försöker jag genom några enkla och hastigt nedtecknade ord beskriva den tacksamhet och glädje som jag känner för all hjälp på vägen, för all stöttning i motvinden, för all påhejning i uppförsbacken, och kanske framförallt, för alla glada tillrop vid framgången.

Med en enorm iver och energi för det mesta i livet i allmänhet och för forskning i synnerhet har min huvudhandledare inspirerat mig till att fortsätta söka svar när osäkerheten och uppgivenheten har infunnit sig. Detta i tillägg till all förstklassig handledning inom främst forskningsmetodik, vetenskapligt skrivande, och att hitta vetenskaplig litteratur har du **Martin Neovius** gjort min doktorandtid om inte underhållande, i alla fall behaglig. Stort tack Martin för all den hjälp som jag har fått och för all den tid som du har lagt ner!

Min bihandledare **Johan Askling** för en makalös förmåga att komma med osannolikt snabba, många och otroligt relevanta och smarta idéer, synpunkter och kommentarer som betydligt förbättrar analyser och utkast, och för att du gärna delar med dig av din stora kliniska erfarenhet.

Jag vill rikta ett stort tack till min mentor **Karin Modig** för alla intressanta pratstunder om allt mellan himmel och jord – träning, vetenskap, friluftsliv, kärlek, för att du visar att dygnets timmar visst räcker till, och inte minst för din fenomenala förmåga att få mig att se livet från andra perspektiv, särskilt från det spontana!

Tack till alla mina kollegor i forskargruppen som bidrar till att göra arbetet roligt och intressant, Elizabeth Arkema, Hjalmar Wadström, John Svensson, Julia Simard, Kari Johansson, Karin Hellgren, Kristin Waldenlind, Lotta Ljung, Marie Holmqvist, Pauline Raaschou, Thomas Bergman, Thomas Frisell och Ängla Mantel.

Ett särskilt tack till min rumskompis **Kari** för alla trevliga spontana pratstunder, till **Elizabeth** för att du tog dig tid att läsa min avhandling och för trevliga tennismatcher, till **Thomas Frisell** för att även du tog dig tid att läsa min avhandling och för att du på ett lättbegripligt sätt delar med dig av all din statistiska och epidemiologiska kunskap, till **Kristin** för en oerhörd uthållighet med valideringsstudien, och till **Julia** som hjälpte mig i början av min tid som doktorand då jag behövde den som mest.

Ett tack till **Farzad Hedayaty** och **Samir Hussin** för er support när IT krånglar, men framförallt för att vi har en gemensam syn i hur en lunch ska ätas!

Jag vill tacka **Johan Karlsson** för ett otroligt fint samarbete med kostnadseffektivitetsmanuset, och ser med glädje fram emot fler samarbetsprojekt!

Tack alla i forskargruppen på ClinTRID, särskilt till **Ronald van Vollenhoven** för all hjälp med Swefotstudierna i detta arbete, och till **Heather Miller** för att du tog dig tid att läsa min avhandling. Jag vill även tacka övriga medförfattare i Swefot-gruppen som har kommit med värdefulla kommentarer och synpunkter på manusutkast, **Ingemar Petersson**, **Pierre Geborek**, och **Sofia Ernestam**. Jag vill också passa på att tacka all personal och alla patienter som registrerar data i SRQ, och ett särskilt tack till all personal och alla patienter som gjorde Swefot-studien möjlig!

Slutligen vill jag tacka min familj, **mor** och **Roffe**, för att ni har kuskat runt och stått vid min sida oavsett aktivitet – brottning, fotboll, studier, skidåkning, flytt, listan kan göras lång. Och min **far** och **Elisabeth** för att jag alltid är välkommen hos er och för all hjälp med allt som har med renovering att göra.

Morfar, du får en egen rad. Först vill jag tacka dig för all vägledning och intressanta diskussioner som vi har haft genom åren, och för goda uppmaningar till ett akademiskt vägval. Men mest för att du ger inspiration genom att vara ett bra exempel på att godhet och generositet genom livet lönar sig i längden. Tack **Laila** för att du finns!

Till sist, till **Camilla**. Du är mitt eget solsken som förgyller mitt liv med värme och glädje.

7 REFERENCES

- **1.** Wiklund K, Einhorn J, Wennstrom G, Rapaport E. A Swedish cancer-environment register available for research. *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health.* Mar 1981;7(1):64-67.
- **2.** Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Lancet.* Nov 19 1994;344(8934):1383-1389.
- **3.** Sjostrom L, Larsson B, Backman L, et al. Swedish obese subjects (SOS). Recruitment for an intervention study and a selected description of the obese state. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* Jun 1992;16(6):465-479.
- **4.** Agren G, Narbro K, Jonsson E, Naslund I, Sjostrom L, Peltonen M. Cost of in-patient care over 7 years among surgically and conventionally treated obese patients. *Obesity research*. Dec 2002;10(12):1276-1283.
- Strandberg TE, Pyorala K, Cook TJ, et al. Mortality and incidence of cancer during 10-year follow-up of the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Lancet*. Aug 28-Sep 3 2004;364(9436):771-777.
- **6.** Askling J, Fored CM, Geborek P, et al. Swedish registers to examine drug safety and clinical issues in RA. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Jun 2006;65(6):707-712.
- **7.** Simard JF, Neovius M, Hagelberg S, Askling J. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and risk of cancer: a nationwide cohort study. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. Dec 2010;62(12):3776-3782.
- **8.** Neovius M, Simard JF, Askling J. How large are the productivity losses in contemporary patients with RA, and how soon in relation to diagnosis do they develop? *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Jun 2011;70(6):1010-1015.
- **9.** Randomization within quality registries: a cost-effective complement to classical randomized trials. *European heart journal.* Jan 2014;35(1):1-2.
- **10.** Lauer MS, D'Agostino RB, Sr. The randomized registry trial--the next disruptive technology in clinical research? *N Engl J Med.* Oct 24 2013;369(17):1579-1581.
- **11.** Augustsson J, Neovius M, Cullinane-Carli C, Eksborg S, van Vollenhoven RF. Patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with tumour necrosis factor antagonists increase their participation in the workforce: potential for significant long-term indirect cost gains (data from a population-based registry). *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Jan 2010;69(1):126-131.
- **12.** Neovius M, Sundstrom A, Simard J, et al. Small-area variations in sales of TNF inhibitors in Sweden between 2000 and 2009. *Scandinavian journal of rheumatology*. Jan 2011;40(1):8-15.
- **13.** van Vollenhoven RF, Cifaldi MA, Ray S, Chen N, Weisman MH. Improvement in work place and household productivity for patients with early rheumatoid arthritis treated with adalimumab plus methotrexate: work outcomes and their correlations with clinical and radiographic measures from a randomized controlled trial companion study. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken).* Feb 2010;62(2):226-234.
- **14.** Anis A, Zhang W, Emery P, et al. The effect of etanercept on work productivity in patients with early active rheumatoid arthritis: results from the COMET study. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford, England*). Oct 2009;48(10):1283-1289.

- **15.** Bejarano V, Quinn M, Conaghan PG, et al. Effect of the early use of the anti-tumor necrosis factor adalimumab on the prevention of job loss in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Oct 15 2008;59(10):1467-1474.
- **16.** Smolen JS, Han C, van der Heijde D, et al. Infliximab treatment maintains employability in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Mar 2006;54(3):716-722.
- 17. Chen YF, Jobanputra P, Barton P, et al. A systematic review of the effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept and infliximab for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in adults and an economic evaluation of their cost-effectiveness. *Health Technol Assess*. Nov 2006;10(42):iii-iv, xi-xiii, 1-229.
- **18.** Lekander I, Borgstrom F, Svarvar P, Ljung T, Carli C, van Vollenhoven RF. Cost-effectiveness of real-world infliximab use in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in Sweden. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care.* Jan 2010;26(1):54-61.
- **19.** Schoels M, Wong J, Scott DL, et al. Economic aspects of treatment options in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review informing the EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Jun 2010;69(6):995-1003.
- **20.** van der Velde G, Pham B, Machado M, et al. Cost-effectiveness of biologic response modifiers compared to disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs for rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. Jan 2011;63(1):65-78.
- 21. Swedish Tax Agency. *Population registration in Sweden*. https://<u>www.skatteverket.se/download/18.8dcbbe4142d38302d74be9/1387372677724/71</u> <u>7B06.pdf</u>.
- **22.** Ludvigsson JF, Otterblad-Olausson P, Pettersson BU, Ekbom A. The Swedish personal identity number: possibilities and pitfalls in healthcare and medical research. *European journal of epidemiology*. 2009;24(11):659-667.
- 23. Rothman KJ. *Epidemiology An Introduction*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 24. Szklo M, Nieto FJ. *Epidemiology Beyond the Basics*. third ed: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2014.
- **25.** Cox DR. Regression models and life-tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*. 1972;34(2):187-220.
- **26.** Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Timothy LL. *Modern Epidemiology.* third ed. Philadelphia, USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- **27.** Sjolander A, Greenland S. Ignoring the matching variables in cohort studies when is it valid and why? *Statistics in medicine*. Nov 30 2013;32(27):4696-4708.
- **28.** Detry MA, Lewis RJ. The intention-to-treat principle: how to assess the true effect of choosing a medical treatment. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. Jul 2 2014;312(1):85-86.
- **29.** Abraha I, Montedori A. Modified intention to treat reporting in randomised controlled trials: systematic review. *Bmj.* 2010;340:c2697.
- **30.** Hernán MA, Robins JM. Causal Inference. 2014: <u>http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/sites/1268/2014/05/hernanrobins_v1.10.25.pdf</u>. Accessed 2014-08-07.
- **31.** Tunis SR, Stryer DB, Clancy CM. Practical clinical trials: increasing the value of clinical research for decision making in clinical and health policy. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association.* Sep 24 2003;290(12):1624-1632.

- **32.** Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Torrance GW, O'Brien BJ, Stoddart GL. *Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes.* third ed. New York, USA: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- **33.** Koopmanschap MA, Rutten FF, van Ineveld BM, van Roijen L. The friction cost method for measuring indirect costs of disease. *J Health Econ.* Jun 1995;14(2):171-189.
- **34.** Johannesson M, Karlsson G. The friction cost method: a comment. *J Health Econ*. Apr 1997;16(2):249-255; discussion 257-249.
- **35.** Koopmanschap MA, van Ineveld BM. Towards a new approach for estimating indirect costs of disease. *Social science & medicine (1982)*. May 1992;34(9):1005-1010.
- **36.** *General guidelines for economic evaluations from the Pharmaceutical Benefits Board (LFNAR 2003:2).* 2003-05-01: <u>http://www.tlv.se/Upload/English/Guidelines-for-economic-evaluations-LFNAR-2003-2.pdf</u>.
- **37.** Johannesson M, Meltzer D. Some reflections on cost-effectiveness analysis. *Health economics.* Feb 1998;7(1):1-7.
- **38.** The EuroQol Group. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. *Health Policy*. Dec 1990;16(3):199-208.
- **39.** Brooks R. EuroQol: the current state of play. *Health Policy.* Jul 1996;37(1):53-72.
- **40.** Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. *Med Care.* Nov 1997;35(11):1095-1108.
- **41.** Burstrom K, Sun S, Gerdtham UG, et al. Swedish experience-based value sets for EQ-5D health states. *Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation.* Mar 2014;23(2):431-442.
- **42.** Bracco A, Krol M. Economic evaluations in European reimbursement submission guidelines: current status and comparisons. *Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research*. Oct 2013;13(5):579-595.
- **43.** Gold MR, Siegel JE, Russes LB, Weinstein MC. *Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press; 1996.
- **44.** Black WC. The CE plane: a graphic representation of cost-effectiveness. *Medical decision making : an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making.* Jul-Sep 1990;10(3):212-214.
- **45.** Scott DL, Wolfe F, Huizinga TW. Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet.* Sep 25 2010;376(9746):1094-1108.
- **46.** Alamanos Y, Voulgari PV, Drosos AA. Incidence and prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis, based on the 1987 American College of Rheumatology criteria: a systematic review. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* Dec 2006;36(3):182-188.
- **47.** Neovius M, Simard JF, Askling J. Nationwide prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis and penetration of disease-modifying drugs in Sweden. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Apr 2011;70(4):624-629.
- **48.** Symmons DP. Epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis: determinants of onset, persistence and outcome. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* Dec 2002;16(5):707-722.
- **49.** Frisell T, Holmqvist M, Kallberg H, Klareskog L, Alfredsson L, Askling J. Familial risks and heritability of rheumatoid arthritis: role of rheumatoid factor/anti-citrullinated protein antibody status, number and type of affected relatives, sex, and age. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Nov 2013;65(11):2773-2782.

- **50.** Carlens C, Hergens MP, Grunewald J, et al. Smoking, use of moist snuff, and risk of chronic inflammatory diseases. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. Jun 1 2010;181(11):1217-1222.
- **51.** Stolt P, Bengtsson C, Nordmark B, et al. Quantification of the influence of cigarette smoking on rheumatoid arthritis: results from a population based case-control study, using incident cases. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Sep 2003;62(9):835-841.
- **52.** Kaipiainen-Seppanen O, Aho K, Nikkarinen M. Regional differences in the incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Finland in 1995. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Feb 2001;60(2):128-132.
- **53.** Puolakka K, Kautiainen H, Pohjolainen T, Virta L. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) remains a threat to work productivity: a nationwide register-based incidence study from Finland. *Scandinavian journal of rheumatology.* 2010;39(5):436-438.
- **54.** Arnett FC, Edworthy SM, Bloch DA, et al. The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. Mar 1988;31(3):315-324.
- **55.** Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, et al. 2010 rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Sep 2010;69(9):1580-1588.
- **56.** Humphreys JH, Verstappen SM, Hyrich KL, Chipping JR, Marshall T, Symmons DP. The incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the UK: comparisons using the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria and the 1987 ACR classification criteria. Results from the Norfolk Arthritis Register. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Aug 2013;72(8):1315-1320.
- **57.** Prevoo ML, van 't Hof MA, Kuper HH, van Leeuwen MA, van de Putte LB, van Riel PL. Modified disease activity scores that include twenty-eight-joint counts. Development and validation in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Jan 1995;38(1):44-48.
- **58.** Anderson J, Caplan L, Yazdany J, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis disease activity measures: American College of Rheumatology recommendations for use in clinical practice. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken).* May 2012;64(5):640-647.
- **59.** Spitz PW, Fries JF. The present and future of comprehensive outcome measures for rheumatic diseases. *Clin Rheumatol.* Sep 1987;6 Suppl 2:105-111.
- **60.** van der Heijde DM. Plain X-rays in rheumatoid arthritis: overview of scoring methods, their reliability and applicability. *Bailliere's clinical rheumatology*. Aug 1996;10(3):435-453.
- **61.** Schoels M, Knevel R, Aletaha D, et al. Evidence for treating rheumatoid arthritis to target: results of a systematic literature search. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Apr 2010;69(4):638-643.
- **62.** Smolen JS, Landewe R, Breedveld FC, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2013 update. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Mar 2014;73(3):492-509.
- **63.** Goekoop-Ruiterman YP, de Vries-Bouwstra JK, Allaart CF, et al. Clinical and radiographic outcomes of four different treatment strategies in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis (the BeSt study): A randomized, controlled trial. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Feb 2008;58(2 Suppl):S126-135.
- **64.** Moreland LW, O'Dell JR, Paulus HE, et al. A randomized comparative effectiveness study of oral triple therapy versus etanercept plus methotrexate in early aggressive rheumatoid

arthritis: the treatment of Early Aggressive Rheumatoid Arthritis Trial. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Sep 2012;64(9):2824-2835.

- **65.** van Vollenhoven RF, Ernestam S, Geborek P, et al. Addition of infliximab compared with addition of sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine to methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis (Swefot trial): 1-year results of a randomised trial. *Lancet.* Aug 8 2009;374(9688):459-466.
- **66.** van Vollenhoven RF, Geborek P, Forslind K, et al. Conventional combination treatment versus biological treatment in methotrexate-refractory early rheumatoid arthritis: 2 year follow-up of the randomised, non-blinded, parallel-group Swefot trial. *Lancet.* May 5 2012;379(9827):1712-1720.
- **67.** Rantalaiho V, Kautiainen H, Korpela M, et al. Targeted treatment with a combination of traditional DMARDs produces excellent clinical and radiographic long-term outcomes in early rheumatoid arthritis regardless of initial infliximab. The 5-year follow-up results of a randomised clinical trial, the NEO-RACo trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Oct 28 2013.
- **68.** O'Dell JR, Mikuls TR, Taylor TH, et al. Therapies for active rheumatoid arthritis after methotrexate failure. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 25 2013;369(4):307-318.
- **69.** Birnbaum H, Pike C, Kaufman R, Marynchenko M, Kidolezi Y, Cifaldi M. Societal cost of rheumatoid arthritis patients in the US. *Curr Med Res Opin.* Jan 2010;26(1):77-90.
- **70.** Boonen A, Severens JL. The burden of illness of rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* Mar 2011;30 Suppl 1:S3-8.
- **71.** Hallert E, Husberg M, Jonsson D, Skogh T. Rheumatoid arthritis is already expensive during the first year of the disease (the Swedish TIRA project). *Rheumatology (Oxford, England).* Nov 2004;43(11):1374-1382.
- Jacobsson LT, Lindroth Y, Marsal L, Juran E, Bergstrom U, Kobelt G. Rheumatoid arthritis: what does it cost and what factors are driving those costs? Results of a survey in a community-derived population in Malmo, Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of rheumatology*. May-Jun 2007;36(3):179-183.
- **73.** Lundkvist J, Kastang F, Kobelt G. The burden of rheumatoid arthritis and access to treatment: health burden and costs. *Eur J Health Econ.* Jan 2008;8 Suppl 2:S49-60.
- **74.** Michaud K, Messer J, Choi HK, Wolfe F. Direct medical costs and their predictors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a three-year study of 7,527 patients. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Oct 2003;48(10):2750-2762.
- **75.** Swedish Society for Rheumatology. *Rheumatology Bulletin.* 4/2014: pp. 28. http://www.svenskreumatologi.se/sites/default/files/49/RB_4_2014_ma.pdf.
- **76.** Geborek P, Crnkic M, Petersson IF, Saxne T. Etanercept, infliximab, and leflunomide in established rheumatoid arthritis: clinical experience using a structured follow up programme in southern Sweden. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Sep 2002;61(9):793-798.
- 77. van Vollenhoven R, Harju A, Brannemark S, Klareskog L. Treatment with infliximab (Remicade) when etanercept (Enbrel) has failed or vice versa: data from the STURE registry showing that switching tumour necrosis factor alpha blockers can make sense. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Dec 2003;62(12):1195-1198.
- **78.** Neovius M, Simard J, Sundstrom A, et al. Generalisability of clinical registers used for drug safety and comparative effectiveness research: coverage of the Swedish Biologics Register. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Mar 2011;70(3):516-519.

- **79.** Wadström H, Eriksson JK, Neovius M, Askling J. How good is the coverage and how accurate are exposure data in the Swedish Biologics Register (ARTIS)? *Scandinavian journal of rheumatology*. 2014;In revission.
- **80.** National Board of Health and Welfare. *Report to national quality of care registers and to healthcare registers: comparisons of coverage estimates.* 2013-12-12: pp. 40-42. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/Lists/Artikelkatalog/Attachments/19285/2013-12-12.pdf.
- **81.** van Gestel AM, Prevoo ML, van 't Hof MA, van Rijswijk MH, van de Putte LB, van Riel PL. Development and validation of the European League Against Rheumatism response criteria for rheumatoid arthritis. Comparison with the preliminary American College of Rheumatology and the World Health Organization/International League Against Rheumatism Criteria. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Jan 1996;39(1):34-40.
- **82.** Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, et al. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. *BMC Public Health.* 2011;11:450.
- **83.** National Board of Health and Welfare. *Quality of coding in the National Patient Register: a new tool for measuring quality.* March 2013: pp. 7-8. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/Lists/Artikelkatalog/Attachments/19005/2013-3-10.pdf.
- **84.** Waldenlind K, Eriksson JK, Askling J. Validation of the Rheumatoid Arthritis diagnosis in the Swedish National Patient Register: a cohort study from Stockholm County.In revission.
- Social Insurance Office. *MiDAS Sjukpenning och Rehabiliteringspenning*. March 2011: <u>http://www.forsakringskassan.se/wps/wcm/connect/acb4a3b5-418e-4e75-8652-</u> <u>1f40ca7019a7/MiDAS_Sjukpenning_och_rehabiliteringspenning_Version_1_02.pdf?MOD=A</u> <u>JPERES</u>.
- **86.** Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. *J AM Stat Assoc.* 1958;53:457-481.
- **87.** Vickers AJ, Altman DG. Statistics notes: Analysing controlled trials with baseline and follow up measurements. *Bmj.* Nov 10 2001;323(7321):1123-1124.
- **88.** Briggs AH, Wonderling DE, Mooney CZ. Pulling cost-effectiveness analysis up by its bootstraps: a non-parametric approach to confidence interval estimation. *Health economics.* Jul-Aug 1997;6(4):327-340.
- **89.** Willan AR, Briggs AH, Hoch JS. Regression methods for covariate adjustment and subgroup analysis for non-censored cost-effectiveness data. *Health economics*. May 2004;13(5):461-475.
- **90.** Efron B. Better bootstrap confidence intervals. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*. 1987;82(397):171-185.
- **91.** Thompson SG, Barber JA. How should cost data in pragmatic randomised trials be analysed? *Bmj.* Apr 29 2000;320(7243):1197-1200.
- **92.** Karlsson JA, Neovius M, Nilsson JA, et al. Addition of infliximab compared with addition of sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine to methotrexate in early rheumatoid arthritis: 2-year quality-of-life results of the randomised, controlled, SWEFOT trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Nov 29 2012.
- **93.** NICE. Methods for the development of NICE public health guidance. 3d ed. 2012; <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/article/pmg4/resources/non-guidance-methods-for-the-</u> <u>development-of-nice-public-health-guidance-third-edition-pdf</u>. Accessed August 21, 2014.

- **94.** Shiroiwa T, Sung YK, Fukuda T, Lang HC, Bae SC, Tsutani K. International survey on willingness-to-pay (WTP) for one additional QALY gained: what is the threshold of cost effectiveness? *Health economics.* Apr 2010;19(4):422-437.
- **95.** Neumann PJ, Cohen JT, Weinstein MC. Updating cost-effectiveness--the curious resilience of the \$50,000-per-QALY threshold. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 28 2014;371(9):796-797.
- **96.** Englund M, Joud A, Geborek P, Felson DT, Jacobsson LT, Petersson IF. Prevalence and incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in southern Sweden 2008 and their relation to prescribed biologics. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. Aug 2010;49(8):1563-1569.
- **97.** Soderlin MK, Borjesson O, Kautiainen H, Skogh T, Leirisalo-Repo M. Annual incidence of inflammatory joint diseases in a population based study in southern Sweden. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Oct 2002;61(10):911-915.
- **98.** Myasoedova E, Crowson CS, Kremers HM, Therneau TM, Gabriel SE. Is the incidence of rheumatoid arthritis rising?: results from Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1955-2007. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Jun 2010;62(6):1576-1582.
- **99.** Pedersen JK, Svendsen AJ, Horslev-Petersen K. Incidence of Rheumatoid Arthritis in the Southern part of Denmark from 1995 to 2001. *Open Rheumatol J.* 2007;1:18-23.
- **100.** Symmons DP, Barrett EM, Bankhead CR, Scott DG, Silman AJ. The incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: results from the Norfolk Arthritis Register. *Br J Rheumatol.* Aug 1994;33(8):735-739.
- **101.** Rossini M, Rossi E, Bernardi D, et al. Prevalence and incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Italy. *Rheumatology international.* May 2014;34(5):659-664.
- **102.** Wiles N, Symmons DP, Harrison B, et al. Estimating the incidence of rheumatoid arthritis: trying to hit a moving target? *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Jul 1999;42(7):1339-1346.
- **103.** Furneri G, Mantovani LG, Belisari A, et al. Systematic literature review on economic implications and pharmacoeconomic issues of rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*. Jul-Aug 2012;30(4 Suppl 73):S72-84.
- **104.** Franke LC, Ament AJ, van de Laar MA, Boonen A, Severens JL. Cost-of-illness of rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*. Jul-Aug 2009;27(4 Suppl 55):S118-123.
- **105.** Mottonen T, Hannonen P, Leirisalo-Repo M, et al. Comparison of combination therapy with single-drug therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis: a randomised trial. FIN-RACo trial group. *Lancet.* May 8 1999;353(9164):1568-1573.
- **106.** Puolakka K, Kautiainen H, Pekurinen M, et al. Monetary value of lost productivity over a five year follow up in early rheumatoid arthritis estimated on the basis of official register data on patients' sickness absence and gross income: experience from the FIN-RACo trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Jul 2006;65(7):899-904.
- 107. Kalkan A, Hallert E, Bernfort L, Husberg M, Carlsson P. Costs of rheumatoid arthritis during the period 1990-2010: a register-based cost-of-illness study in Sweden. *Rheumatology* (Oxford, England). Jan 2014;53(1):153-160.
- **108.** Breedveld FC, Weisman MH, Kavanaugh AF, et al. The PREMIER study: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind clinical trial of combination therapy with adalimumab plus methotrexate versus methotrexate alone or adalimumab alone in patients with early, aggressive rheumatoid arthritis who had not had previous methotrexate treatment. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Jan 2006;54(1):26-37.

- **109.** Emery P, Breedveld FC, Hall S, et al. Comparison of methotrexate monotherapy with a combination of methotrexate and etanercept in active, early, moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis (COMET): a randomised, double-blind, parallel treatment trial. *Lancet.* Aug 2 2008;372(9636):375-382.
- **110.** O'Dell JR, Curtis JR, Mikuls TR, et al. Validation of the methotrexate-first strategy in patients with early, poor-prognosis rheumatoid arthritis: results from a two-year randomized, double-blind trial. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Aug 2013;65(8):1985-1994.
- **111.** Allaire S, Wolfe F, Niu J, Zhang Y, Zhang B, LaValley M. Evaluation of the effect of anti-tumor necrosis factor agent use on rheumatoid arthritis work disability: the jury is still out. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Aug 15 2008;59(8):1082-1089.
- **112.** Han C, Smolen J, Kavanaugh A, St Clair EW, Baker D, Bala M. Comparison of employability outcomes among patients with early or long-standing rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Apr 15 2008;59(4):510-514.
- **113.** ter Wee MM, Lems WF, Usan H, Gulpen A, Boonen A. The effect of biological agents on work participation in rheumatoid arthritis patients: a systematic review. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Feb 2012;71(2):161-171.
- **114.** van den Hout WB, Goekoop-Ruiterman YP, Allaart CF, et al. Cost-utility analysis of treatment strategies in patients with recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Mar 15 2009;61(3):291-299.
- **115.** Boers M. The cost-utility analysis of the BeSt trial: is a camel in fact a horse with abnormalities in the distribution of dorsal fat? Comment on the article by van den Hout et al. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* Nov 15 2009;61(11):1616-1617; author reply 1617-1618.
- **116.** Jalal H, Curtis JR, Cofield S, Moreland LW, O'Dell JR, Michaud K. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Of Triple Therapy Versus Etanercept Plus Methotrexate In Early Aggressive Rheumatoid Arthritis: Analysis Based On The TEAR Trial. [abstract]. *Arthritis and rheumatism*.65(Suppl 10):2646.
- **117.** Leirisalo-Repo M, Kautiainen H, Laasonen L, et al. Infliximab for 6 months added on combination therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis: 2-year results from an investigator-initiated, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study (the NEO-RACo Study). *Annals of the rheumatic diseases.* Jun 2013;72(6):851-857.
- **118.** Frobert O, Lagerqvist B, Gudnason T, et al. Thrombus Aspiration in ST-Elevation myocardial infarction in Scandinavia (TASTE trial). A multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled clinical registry trial based on the Swedish angiography and angioplasty registry (SCAAR) platform. Study design and rationale. *American heart journal.* Dec 2010;160(6):1042-1048.
- **119.** Lagerqvist B, Frobert O, Olivecrona GK, et al. Outcomes 1 Year after Thrombus Aspiration for Myocardial Infarction. *N Engl J Med.* Sep 1 2014.
- **120.** Rezaei H, Saevarsdottir S, Forslind K, et al. In early rheumatoid arthritis, patients with a good initial response to methotrexate have excellent 2-year clinical outcomes, but radiological progression is not fully prevented: data from the methotrexate responders population in the SWEFOT trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Feb 2012;71(2):186-191.
- **121.** Saevarsdottir S, Wallin H, Seddighzadeh M, et al. Predictors of response to methotrexate in early DMARD naive rheumatoid arthritis: results from the initial open-label phase of the SWEFOT trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. Mar 2011;70(3):469-475.
- **122.** Kvamme MK, Lie E, Kvien TK, Kristiansen IS. Two-year direct and indirect costs for patients with inflammatory rheumatic joint diseases: data from real-life follow-up of patients in the NOR-DMARD registry. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. Sep 2012;51(9):1618-1627.

8 SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

8.1 BAKGRUND

8.1.1 Registerforskning i Sverige

Svenska register har i decennier och med framgång använts för medicinsk forskning. I Sverige är registerbaserad forskning möjlig dels genom att vårdsystemet är skattefinansierat och tillgängligt för alla medborgare, dels genom ett personnummerbaserat registersystem av hälsodata. Med hjälp av personnummer registreras information om till exempel dödsorsaker, cancer, utskrivna receptläkemedel, samt sjukvårdsbesök vid både öppenvårdskliniker och inläggningar i slutenvård. Från dessa hälsoregister kan information inhämtas för olika exponeringar med avseende på utskrivna receptläkemedel och sjukdomstillstånd, liksom utfall som död, cancer, eller något annat sjukdomstillstånd som kräver sjukhusvård.

Utöver nationella hälsoregister har även kliniska kvalitetsregister för specifika diagnoser och interventioner etablerats, där data insamlas i klinikens dagliga verksamhet. Syftet med kvalitetsregister är att följa upp och förbättra vården, i vissa fall bidra med beslutsstöd till den ansvariga läkaren, och att bedriva forskning. De första kvalitetsregistren startade redan på 70-talet med knäplastikregistret och höftplastikregistret, och därefter har fler och fler kvalitetsregister startats. År 2014 fanns 81 olika kvalitetsregister med varierande kvalitetsgrad certifierade i Sverige.

Svensk reumatologis kvalitetsregister (SRQ) startade i mitten av 90-talet med det primära syftet att förbättra vård och behandling av patienter med reumatoid artrit (RA), men började senare också att inkludera patienter med andra reumatiska sjukdomar. I slutet av 90-talet, när de första biologiska läkemedlen för RA blev godkända i Sverige, startades det biologiska behandlingsregistret ARTIS som en del av SRQ.

8.1.2 Reumatoid artrit (RA)

RA, även kallad ledgångsreumatism, är den vanligast förekommande kroniskt inflammatoriska ledsjukdomen. Ungefär 0.7% av Sveriges vuxna befolkning (ca 50,000 personer) lever med diagnosen RA, med större förekomst hos kvinnor än hos män och ökad förekomst med ökad ålder. Den mest betydelsefulla faktorn för RA-sjukdomens utveckling hos drabbade personer är behandling. Sedan introduktionen av biologiska preparat i slutet av 90-talet har behandling av RA förändrats radikalt, men till en betydligt högre kostnad än tidigare tillgängliga behandlingsalternativ. De biologiska läkemedlen påverkar immunsystemet och har visat sig vara mer effektiva än konventionell standardbehandling för reducering av sjukdomsaktivitet och minskad radiologisk förändring (strukturella förändringar i leder), men är associerade med vissa biverkningar.

Till följd av den stora utbredningen av RA och till följd av det lidande som RA medför är samhällskostnaderna stora. Effektivare behandling i form av biologiska läkemedel har givit förhoppningar om att produktionsbortfall i form av sjukskrivning och förtidspension, som utgör den största delen av den totala kostnaden för samhället, minskas i högre utsträckning och på så sätt ekonomiskt försvara dessa läkemedel.

8.1.3 Swefot – en randomiserad kontrollerad studie

Syftet med Swefot-studien var att jämföra intensiva behandlingsalternativ av konventionell kombinationsbehandling, även kallad trippelterapi, med det biologiska läkemedlet infliximab plus metotrexat. Dessa behandlingsalternativ prövades av patienter med nydebuterad RA som inte svarade enbart standardbehandlingen metotrexat. Studien genomfördes på på 15 olika reumatologmottagningar runt om i Sverige och rekryterade patienter med nydebuterad RA fick metotrexat under tre månader. Patienter som inte svarade på metotrexat randomiserades till infliximab plus metotrexat eller till trippelterapi. Resultat med avseende på sjukdomsaktivitet efter ett år visade att patienter i infliximabgruppen svarade i högre utsträckning på behandlingen jämfört med patienter i trippelterapigruppen. Efter två år kunde dock inte någon skillnad i sjukdomsaktivitet påvisas. Däremot hade patienterna i infliximabgruppen en lägre förekomst av radiologiska förändringar efter två år.

8.2 SYFTE

Syftet med denna avhandling var att beskriva hur svensk registerdata kan användas vid epidemiologiska frågeställningar och vid utvärdering av sjukvård genom att använda SRQ länkat till nationella register och register vid Försäkringskassan. Det specifika syftet med de enskilda studierna var att

- 1. Beräkna incidensen (nyinsjuknandet) av RA i Sverige totalt, samt uppdelat på kön, ålder, utbildningsnivå, och hemvist (**studie I**)
- 2. Beräkna sjukdomsbördan av RA med avseende på kostnad för sjukvård, läkemedel, och produktionsbortfall i relation till allmänbefolkningen (**studie II**)
- Beräkna effekten på sjukskrivning och förtidspension av biologisk behandling med infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling bland patienter med nydebuterad RA (studie III)
- 4. Genomföra en kostnadseffektivitetsanalys av infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling (**studie IV**)

8.3 METOD

Genom att använda personnummer har vi länkat ihop SRQ och nationella hälsoregister, samt även information om sjukskrivning och förtidspension (sjukersättning/aktivitetsersättning) från Försäkringskassan. Till en relativt låg kostnad skapades därigenom en kraftfull forskningsdatabas. Med klinisk detaljerad data från SRQ tillsammans med observationella data av lång och praktiskt taget fullständig uppföljning från framförallt klinisk daglig verksamhet samt data på utskrivna receptläkemedel, men också uppgifter om arbetsoförmåga, kan flera olika frågeställningar i ett stort urval av patienter med RA studeras. I databasen ingår även fem jämförelseindivider från allmänbefolkningen utan RA som har matchats per RA-patient på ålder, kön, utbildningslängd, bostadslän, och år.

I tillägg har data från den randomiserade studien Swefot registrerats i SRQ. Tillsammans med de fördelar som observationella data ger av lång och nära nog komplett uppföljning av många olika och objektivt bedömda utfall, kunde vi bland randomiserade patienter jämföra hälsoekonomiska utfall som arbetsoförmåga och kostnadseffektivitet. Den randomiserade designen resulterar i en minskad risk av att andra faktorer påverkar behandlingen och utfallet (confounders), vilket kan leda till felaktiga resultat.

8.4 RESULTAT

8.4.1 Studie I – Incidens av RA

Med en registerbaserad definition identifierades 8826 individer som nyinsjuknade i RA under 2006-2008 i Sverige, vilket motsvarar en incidens av 41 per 100,000 individer. Incidensen var 56 per 100,000 för kvinnor och 25 per 100,000 för män, och ökade med ålder till 70-79 år bland både kvinnor och män (**Figur 6**). Vidare noterade vi en lägre incidens av RA i tätbefolkade områden och bland personer med högre utbildning, men ingen geografisk trend kunde urskiljas. Genom att ändra vår identifieringsalgoritm testade vi den registerbaserade definitionen av nydebuterad RA till en mer strikt och mer liberal definition, vilket resulterade i att det totala incidensestimatet ändrades med mindre än 15%.

8.4.2 Studie II – Kostnader för sjukvård, läkemedel och arbetsoförmåga bland patienter med RA

Medelkostnaden per patient med RA i arbetsför ålder uppgick till €23,000 per år, av vilket en fjärdedel var sjukvårdskostnader och tre fjärdedelar utgjorde produktionsförluster (**Figur 7**). Bland pensionärer med RA var medelkostnaden per patient €4000 per år, med slutenvård som den största kostnaden. Jämfört med allmänbefolkningen var dessa kostnader 2-3 gånger större, medan medelkostnaden bland patienter med RA som använder biologiska läkemedel var 4 gånger större i den arbetsföra åldern, och 6-7 gånger större bland pensionärer.

Jämfört med allmänbefolkningen, ökade medelkostnaderna per patient med nydebuterad RA från samma nivå 12 månader före diagnos, toppade med 3 gånger kostnaden månaden efter diagnos, för att minska till den dubbla kostnaden jämfört med allmänbefolkningen 12 månader därefter (**Figur 8**).

8.4.3 Studie III – Infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling och arbetsoförmåga bland patienter med nydebuterad RA

Patienter med nydebuterad RA som inte svarade på sin initiala metotrexatbehandling randomiserades till att behandlas med infliximab eller med konventionell kombinationsterapi i tillägg till metotrexat. Båda behandlingsgrupperna minskade avsevärt antal medeldagar per månad av sjukskrivning och förtidspension under 21 månaders uppföljning, men ingen skillnad mellan behandlingsgrupperna kunde påvisas.

Vid 12 månader före randomisering ökade antal medeldagar per patient från samma nivå som allmänbefolkningen, för att vara som högst vid månaden före randomisering med 17 dagar i båda grupperna, vilket var 3 gånger så mycket som allmänbefolkningen. Vid 21 månader efter randomisering hade antal medeldagar per månad reducerats till den dubbla jämfört med allmänbefolkningen (**Figur 9**).

Patienter som inte randomiserats, av vilka de allra flesta hade ett tillräckligt bra svar på sin initiala metotrexatbehandling, startade från färre dagar av sjukskrivning och förtidspension jämfört med de randomiserade patienterna och minskade antal medeldagar per månad till samma nivå som allmänbefolkningen inom 1 år efter behandlingsstart (Figur 9).

8.4.4 Studie IV – Kostnadseffektivitet av infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsbehandling bland patienter med nydebuterad RA

Under 21 månader observerade vi högre läkemedel och sjukvårdskostnader bland patienter med nydebuterad RA som slumpmässigt tilldelats behandling med infliximab, jämfört med de patienter som slumpmässigt tilldelats behandling med konventionell kombinationsterapi efter ett otillräckligt svar av metotrexatbehandling. Däremot kunde ej någon skillnad i hälsorelaterad livskvalitet med kvalitetsjusterade levnadsår (QALY) påvisas. Den ökade kostnaden per QALY för behandlingsstrategin med infliximab jämfört med konventionell kombinationsterapi blev därför mycket hög, med €2,4 miljoner per QALY från ett samhällsperspektiv (inklusive produktionsbortfall) och €1,9 miljoner per QALY från ett sjukvårdsperspektiv (exklusive produktionsbortfall). Dessa kostnader per QALY är högre än vad som vanligtvis anses vara acceptabla nivåer för kostnadseffektivitet.

8.5 SLUTSATS

Registerberikade kvalitetsregister kan användas för att på nationell nivå studera sjukdomsförekomst och sjukdomsbörda med goda möjligheter till subgrupps- och tidsserieanalyser. Detta är möjligt genom att tillfälligt upprätta en forskningsdatabas som är relativt lätt att återskapa med uppdaterad data.

Genom att data från den randomiserade Swefot-studien registrerades i SRQ, kunde vi i en registerberikad randomiserad studie undersöka hälsoekonomiska utfall i en klinisk vanlig behandlingssituation för patienter med nydebuterad RA, nämligen huruvida fortsatt behandling med ett biologiskt läkemedel (infliximab) är bättre än fortsatt behandling med konventionella läkemedel bland patienter som misslyckats med en initial metotrexatbehandling.

Båda behandlingsgrupperna i Swefot-studien minskade väsentligt antal medeldagar av sjukskrivning och förtidspension under 21 månader, men ingen skillnad mellan grupperna kunde påvisas. Antal dagar vid 21 månader efter randomisering var fortfarande det dubbla jämfört med allmänbefolkningen, vilket indikerar ett behov av effektivare behandlingsalternativ och att tidigare kunna diagnostisera nydebuterad RA.

Slutligen, genom att kombinera data av livskvalitet från den randomiserade Swefot-studien med kostnader inhämtade från nationella register observerades under 21 månader en liknande utveckling av behandlingseffekt mellan infliximab och trippelterapigruppen, medan patienter i infliximabgruppen ackumulerade betydligt högre kostnader. En mindre radiologisk progress observerades dock bland patienter i behandlingsstrategin med infliximab, vilket innebär att framtida studier med längre uppföljning eventuellt behöver bekräfta dessa studieresultat.